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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, DC 20549
FORM 10-Q

þ QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15 (d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended March 31, 2009
OR

o TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15 (d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from                      to                     
Commission file number 1-10524

UDR, Inc.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Maryland
(State or other jurisdiction of
incorporation of organization)

54-0857512
(I.R.S. Employer
Identification No.)

1745 Shea Center Drive, Suite 200, Highlands Ranch, Colorado 80129
(Address of principal executive offices) (zip code)

(720) 283-6120
(Registrant�s telephone number, including area code)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was
required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes þ No o
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if
any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T during
the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes
o No o
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer,
or a smaller reporting company. See definition of �large accelerated filer,� �accelerated filer� and �smaller reporting
company� in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filer þ Accelerated filer o Non-accelerated filer   o
(Do not check if a smaller reporting company)

Smaller Reporting Company o 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes
o No þ
The number of shares of the issuer�s common stock, $0.01 par value, outstanding as of May 1, 2009, was 150,460,532.
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UDR, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except for share data)

(Unaudited)

March 31, December 31,
2009 2008

ASSETS

Real estate owned:
Real estate held for investment $ 5,693,789 $ 5,644,930
Less: accumulated depreciation (1,146,487) (1,078,637)

4,547,302 4,566,293
Real estate under development (net of accumulated depreciation of $544 and
$52) 209,040 186,771

Total real estate owned, net of accumulated depreciation 4,756,342 4,753,064
Cash and cash equivalents 37,132 12,740
Marketable securities 32,133 �
Restricted cash 8,617 7,726
Deferred financing costs, net 29,262 29,168
Notes receivable 207,300 207,450
Investment in unconsolidated joint ventures 47,415 47,048
Other assets 66,562 85,842
Other assets � real estate held for disposition 767 767

Total assets $ 5,185,530 $ 5,143,805

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS� EQUITY

Secured debt $ 1,717,244 $ 1,462,471
Unsecured debt 1,643,177 1,798,662
Real estate taxes payable 19,141 14,035
Accrued interest payable 21,574 20,744
Security deposits and prepaid rent 30,165 28,829
Distributions payable 49,817 57,144
Deferred gains on the sale of depreciable property 28,840 28,845
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and other liabilities 67,044 71,395
Other liabilities � real estate held for disposition 1,274 1,204

Total liabilities 3,578,276 3,483,329

Redeemable non-controlling interests in operating partnership 69,290 108,092

Stockholders� equity
46,571 46,571
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Preferred stock, no par value; 50,000,000 shares authorized 2,803,812 shares
of 8.00% Series E Cumulative Convertible issued and outstanding (2,803,812
shares at December 31, 2008)
4,430,700 shares of 6.75% Series G Cumulative Redeemable issued and
outstanding (4,430,700 shares at December 31, 2008) 110,768 110,768
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 250,000,000 shares authorized 149,096,743
shares issued and outstanding (148,781,115 shares at December 31, 2008) 1,491 1,488
Additional paid-in capital 1,857,320 1,850,871
Distributions in excess of net income (470,520) (448,737)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net (11,055) (11,927)

Total UDR, Inc. stockholders� equity 1,534,575 1,549,034
Non-controlling interest 3,389 3,350

Total equity 1,537,964 1,552,384

Total liabilities and stockholders� equity $ 5,185,530 $ 5,143,805

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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UDR, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except per share data)
(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended
March 31,

2009 2008
REVENUES
Rental income $ 150,615 $ 126,586
Non-property income:
Other income 5,024 4,627

Total Revenues 155,639 131,213

EXPENSES
Rental expenses:
Real estate taxes and insurance 20,020 12,494
Personnel 12,633 11,797
Utilities 8,367 7,083
Repair and maintenance 7,209 6,790
Administrative and marketing 3,333 3,286
Property management 4,142 3,481
Other operating expenses 1,496 1,004
Real estate depreciation and amortization 68,985 52,435
Interest
Expense incurred 36,509 40,506
Gain on debt extinguishment (7,113) (4,739)
Amortization of convertible debt premium 1,296 1,670
General and administrative 9,855 9,769
Other depreciation and amortization 1,394 929

Total Expenses 168,126 146,505

Loss from continuing operations (12,487) (15,292)

Loss from unconsolidated entities (717) (374)
Tax (expense)/benefit for the TRS (51) 1,265

Loss before discontinued operations (13,255) (14,401)
(Loss)/income from discontinued operations (168) 786,856

Consolidated net (loss)/income (13,423) 772,455
Net loss/(income) attributable to non-controlling interests 794 (48,736)

Net (loss)/income attributable to UDR, Inc. (12,629) 723,719
Distributions to preferred stockholders � Series E (Convertible) (931) (931)
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Distributions to preferred stockholders � Series G (1,869) (2,278)

Net (loss)/income available to common stockholders $ (15,429) $ 720, 510

(Loss)/Earnings per weighted average common share � basic and diluted:

Loss from continuing operations available to common stockholders $ (0.10) $ (0.12)
Income from discontinued operations $ (0.00) $ 5.17
Net (loss)/income available to common stockholders $ (0.10) $ 5.05

Common distributions declared per share $ 0.3050 $ 0.3050

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding � basic 147,614 142,547
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding � diluted 147,614 142,547

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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UDR, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands, except for share data)
(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2009 2008

Operating Activities
Consolidated net (loss)/income $ (13,423) $ 772,455
Adjustments to reconcile consolidated net (loss)/income to net cash provided
by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 70,379 53,364
Net loss/(gains) on the sale of depreciable property 168 (767,146)
Net gains on the sale of land � (175)
Gains on debt extinguishment (7,113) (4,739)
Write off of bad debt 915 498
Write off of notes receivable and other assets 439 �
Loss from unconsolidated entities 717 374
Amortization of deferred financing costs and other 1,243 2,551
Amortization of deferred compensation 2,339 1,744
Amortization of convertible debt premium 1,296 1,670
Prepayments/(refunds) on income taxes 414 (932)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Decrease in operating assets 11,051 111
Increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities 3,132 (37,341)

Net cash provided by operating activities 71,557 22,434

Investing Activities
Proceeds from sales of real estate investments, net � 1,451,047
Disbursements related to notes receivable � (7,152)
Purchase of marketable securities (30,936) �
Acquisition of real estate assets (net of liabilities assumed) and initial capital
expenditures � (513,134)
Development of real estate assets (53,583) (23,978)
Capital expenditures and other major improvements � real estate assets, net of
escrow reimbursement (10,269) (31,859)
Capital expenditures � non-real estate assets (3,343) (4,794)
Investment in unconsolidated joint venture (1,084) 89
Purchase deposits on pending real estate acquisitions � (1,021)
Change in funds held in escrow from IRC Section 1031 exchanges � (292,080)

Net cash (used in)/provided by investing activities (99,215) 577,118

Financing Activities
Payments on secured debt (15,196) (67,625)
Proceeds from the issuance of secured debt 269,969 12,408
Proceeds from the issuance of unsecured debt � 240,000
Payments on unsecured debt (200,031) (262,701)
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Net (repayment)/proceeds of revolving bank debt 51,100 (309,500)
Payment of financing costs (3,330) (2,977)
(Payments on)/proceeds from the issuance of common stock (335) 617
Repayment of the investment of performance based programs � (326)
Distributions paid to non-controlling interests (4,404) (2,962)
Distributions paid to preferred stockholders (2,800) (3,209)
Distributions paid to common stockholders (42,125) (43,987)
Repurchase of common stock (798) (102,322)

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities 52,050 (542,584)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 24,392 56,968
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 12,740 3,219

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 37,132 $ 60,187

Supplemental Information:
Interest paid during the period $ 39,376 $ 42,041
Non-cash transactions:
Conversion of operating partnership minority interests to common stock
(110,631 shares in 2009 and 7,150 shares in 2008) 4,225 53
Issuance of restricted stock awards 3 4
Issuance of note receivable upon the disposition of real estate � 200,000
Secured debt assumed with the acquisition of properties, net of fair value
adjustment � 68,728

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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UDR, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS� EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(In thousands, except share data)
(unaudited)

Accumulated
Distributions

in Other
Preferred Stock Common Stock Paid-in Excess ofComprehensiveNon-controlling
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Net IncomeIncome/(Loss)interest Total

Balance,
December 31,
2007 8,203,812 $ 181,571 144,336,438 $ 1,443 $ 1,753,472 $ (916,280) $ (814) $ �$ 1,019,392

Cumulative effect
of change in
accounting
principles 32,602 (110,834) 44 $ 3,148 (75,040)
Balance
January 1, 2008 8,203,812 $ 181,571 144,336,438 $ 1,443 $ 1,786,074 $ (1,027,114) $ (770) $ 3,148 944,352
Comprehensive
Income
Net income � � � � � 697,589 � 202 697,791
Other
comprehensive
income
Unrealized loss on
derivative
financial
instruments � � � � � � (11,901) (11,901)
Allocation to
redeemable
non-controllable
interests � � � � � � 744 � 744

Comprehensive
income 697,589 (11,157) 202 686,634

Issuance of
common and
restricted shares � � 682,650 7 9,191 � � � 9,198
Issuance of
common shares
through public
offering � � 8,661,201 87 183,085 � � � 183,172
Purchase of
common shares � � (6,495,576) (65) (140,468) � � � (140,533)
Redemption of
969,300 shares of

(969,300) (24,232) � � 829 3,056 � � (20,347)
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6.75% Series G
Cumulative
Redeemable
Shares
Adjustment for
conversion of
non-controlling
interests of
unitholders in
operating
partnerships � � 1,596,402 16 12,160 � � � 12,176
Common stock
distributions
declared ($2.2900
per share) � � � � � (175,271) � � (175,271)
Preferred stock
distributions
declared-Series E
($1.3288 per
share) � � � � � (3,724) � � (3,724)
Preferred stock
distributions
declared-Series G
($1.6875 per
share) � � � � � (8,414) � � (8,414)
Adjustment to
reflect redeemable
non-controlling
OP units at
redemption value � � � � � 65,141 � � 65,141

Balance,
December 31,
2008 7,234,512 $ 157,339 148,781,115 $ 1,488 $ 1,850,871 $ (448,737) $ (11,927) $ 3,350 $ 1,552,384

Comprehensive
Income
Net loss � � � � � (12,629) � 39 (12,590)
Other
comprehensive
income
Change in fair
value of
marketable
securities � � � � � � 765 � 765
Unrealized gain
on derivative
financial
instruments � � � � � � 154 � 154
Allocation to
redeemable

� � � � � � (47) � (47)
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non-controllable
interests

Comprehensive
income (12,629) 872 39 (11,718)

ITEM 3:  LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are not a party to any pending legal proceeding. To the knowledge of our management, no federal, state or local
governmental agency is presently contemplating any proceeding against us.  To the knowledge of our management, no
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Edgar Filing: UDR, Inc. - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 13



director, executive officer or affiliate of ours or owner of record or beneficially of more than five percent of our
common stock is a party adverse to us or has a material interest adverse to us in any proceeding.

ITEM 4:  SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

Reserved by Securities and Exchange Commission.

PART II

ITEM 5:  MARKET FOR REGISTRANT�S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low bid information for our common stock on
the Pink Sheets for the quarterly periods commencing January 1, 2007, and ending December 31, 2009. These
quotations do not reflect actual transactions or retail mark-ups, mark-downs or commissions.  Our Pink Sheets trading
symbol is �DIGI.�  

Closing
Bid

Quarter
Ended

High
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Low

March 31,
2007*

$

1.75

$

1.05

June 30,
2007*

$

4.05

$

1.25

September
30, 2007*

$

3.00

$

2.50
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December
31, 2007*

$

2.50

$

1.25

March 31,
2008*

$

1.50

$

1.05

June 30,
2008*

$

1.80

$

1.05

September
30, 2008*

$

2.25
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$

0.51

December
31, 2008*

$

1.01

$

0.20

March 31,
2009*

$

 .15

$

 .12

June 30,
2009*

$

.35

$

.35
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September
30, 2009*

$

.20

$

.20

December
31, 2009*

$

.18

$

.17

*

Reflects the Recapitalization that was comprised first of the 40,000 for one reverse split with rounding up to the
nearest whole share, and second the 200 for one dividend.  See the heading �Business Development,� Part I, Item 1.

See the heading �Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities; Use of Proceeds from Unregistered Securities� of this Item,
for information about the number of shares that may become available for resale under Rule 144.  Also, see the
heading �Rule 144,� of this Item, directly below, for summary information about the other terms and conditions required
to be complied with for resales under Rule 144.  Companies like us that have been former �shell companies� are
required to have the �current public information� available in the form of reports required to be filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission under the Exchange Act at the time of the resale of any of its �restricted securities� under
subparagraph (i) of Rule 144.

Rule 144
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The following is a summary of the current requirements of Rule 144:

Affiliate or Person Selling on
Behalf of an Affiliate

Non-Affiliate (and has not been
an Affiliate During the Prior
Three Months)

Restricted Securities of Reporting
Issuers

During six-month holding period �
no resales under Rule 144
Permitted.  

After Six-month holding period �
may resell in accordance with all
Rule 144 requirements including:

·

Current public information,

·

Volume limitations,

·

Manner of sale requirements for
equity securities, and

·

Filing of Form 144.

During six- month holding period
� no resales under Rule 144
permitted.
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After six-month holding period
but before one year � unlimited
public resales under Rule 144
except that the current public
information requirement still
applies.

After one-year holding period �
unlimited public resales under
Rule 144; need not comply with
any other Rule 144 requirements.

Restricted Securities of
Non-Reporting Issuers

During one-year holding period �
no resales under Rule 144
permitted.

After one-year holding period �
may resell in accordance with all
Rule 144 requirements including:

·

Current public information,

·

Volume limitations,

·

Manner of sale requirements for
equity securities, and

·

Filing of Form 144.

During one-year holding period �
no resales under Rule 144
permitted.
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After one-year holding period �
unlimited public resales under
Rule 144; need not comply with
any other Rule 144 requirements.

Holders

We currently have approximately 339 stockholders, not including an indeterminate number who may hold shares in
�street name.�

Dividends

Other than our 200 for one stock dividend that was a part of the Recapitalization discussed under the heading �Business
Development,� Part I, Item 1, we have not declared any cash dividends with respect to our common stock, and do not
intend to declare dividends in the foreseeable future.  Our future dividend policy cannot be ascertained with any
certainty, because we are presently involved in funding our business operations and our intended Plan of Operation.
There are no material restrictions limiting, or that are likely to limit, our ability to pay dividends on our securities.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

Plan Category

Number of Securities to be
issued upon exercise of
outstanding options,
warrants and rights

Weighted-average exercise
price of outstanding
options, warrants and rights

Number of securities
remaining available for
future issuance under
equity compensation plans
excluding securities
reflected in column (a)
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(a)

(b)

(c)

Equity compensation plans
approved by security
holders

1,944,000*

$0.37

7,056,000(2)

Equity compensation plans
not approved by security
holders

None

None

None

Total

1,944,000(1)

$0.37

7,056,000(2)

(1)   Reflects the overall grant of five year options totaling 9,041,000 that vest over various periods, less (1) the
cancellation, effective April 17, 2008, of an option to purchase 525,000 shares granted to an employee who

20
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are no longer employed by us and (2) the forfeiture of options totaling 6,572,000 pertaining to employees who are no
longer employed by us.

(2)    Reflects a total of  9,000,000 shares authorized for issuance less the overall grant of five year options totaling
1,944,000.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities; Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities

Digitiliti, Inc. Sales

Common Stock and Bridge Loan Offering of 12% Convertible Note Units

To whom

Date

Number of shares/

$ for described Units

Consideration*

Storage Merger

8/17/2007

21,439,427

Exchange of securities in Storage Merger(1)

Bridge Loan Offering

8/07/2008

$5,500,000

12% Convertible Note Unit Offering(2)
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StorageSwitch, LLC

4/17/2008

299,920

Services rendered in connection with software
purchase (See Part I, Item 1)

Martin Janis & Company

4/17/2008

70,000

Issued pursuant to a Letter Agreement

StorageSwitch, LLC

6/30/08

74,880

Services rendered in connection with software
purchase (See Part I, Item 1)

StorageSwitch, LLC

9/30/08

24,960

Services rendered in connection with software
purchase (See Part I, Item 1)

$250,000 12% Convertible Note

10/13/08

Cash and Warrants (see  �$250,000 12%
Convertible Note� below)

Martin Janis & Company

12/31/08

70,000

Pubic relations services rendered
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Secured Convertible Notes

04/09

$750,000

$750,000

General Equity Offering

11/25/2009

2,725,000

Issued for Equity Raise ($0.20 per share)*

*

Offering is continuing and the total aggregate dollar offering has been increased to $2,000,000.

Warrants

A summary of warrant activities for 2008 and 2009 is as follows:

Warrants

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price

O u t s t a n d i n g  a t
December 31, 2007

3,536,148
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1.75

    Granted

2,800,450

1.51

    Exercised

(136,250)

0.75

O u t s t a n d i n g  a t
December 31, 2008

6,200,348

1.03

    Granted

3,410,000

0.39

    Forfeited

(100,000)
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1.88

O u t s t a n d i n g  a t
December 31, 2009

9,510,348

0.79

Except for the 750,000 warrants that are subject to certain performance conditions, all warrants were fully vested and
exercisable at December 31, 2009.

The weighted-average remaining contractual life of warrants outstanding at December 31, 2009, and 2008, was  4.22
years and 4.0 years, respectively. The weighted-average grant date fair value of warrants granted in 2009 and 2008
was $.20 and $0.51 respectively.  Please note the Modification Proposal made to our convertible note holders that is
discussed in Part I, Item 1, under the heading �Business Development,� under the headings, �Period Ended December 31,
2008� and �Period Ended December 31, 2009.�  Substantially all warrant holders received their warrants in our bridge
loan offering referenced in the preceding table.

Options

A summary of option activities for 2008 through 2009 was as follows:

Options

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price
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Outstanding at
December 31, 2006

-

$

   -

Granted

3,441,000

0.37

Outstanding at
December 31, 2007

3,441,000
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0.37

Granted

3,900,000

0.38

Canceled

(525,000

)

0.35

Forfeited
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(3,367,152

)

0.38

Outstanding at
December 31, 2008

3,448,848

0.37

      Granted

1,700,000

0.38

      Canceled
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-

                           -

      Forfeited

(985,848

)

0.37

Outstanding at
December 31, 2009

4,163,000

0.37
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The weighted-average remaining life of all options outstanding at December 31, 2009, and 2008, was 3.2 years and
3.7 years, respectively. The weighted-average grant date fair value of options granted in 2008 and 2007 was $0.25 and
$1.07, respectively.

Note on Storage Merger Exchange

 (1)  The following table reflects the outstanding securities of us and Storage on a pre-Merger and combined
post-Merger basis:

Digitiliti Pre-Merger

Outstanding Shares

Storage Pre-Merger

Outstanding Shares (i)

Storage Pre-Merger

Outstanding
Convertible  

Securities (ii)

Digitiliti Post-Merger
Outstanding Shares
(iii)

Digitiliti Post-Merger
 Outstanding
Convertible Securities
(ii)

369,211 Shares

21,320,216 Shares

12,415,014 Shares

21,439,427 Shares

12,415,014 Shares
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(i)

Includes 10,571 shares issued by us to Storage�s Chief Accounting Officer that were required to have been issued
before closing; 4,000 shares issued by us to Storage�s public relations firm pursuant to a Letter Agreement executed
prior to the closing of the Storage Merger that were required to have been issued before closing; 20,614 shares issued
at $0.35 per share to four stockholders who had pre-emptive rights to acquire additional shares of common stock of
Storage at the closing of the Storage Merger; and 3,051 shares issued pursuant to rounding in connection with the
Recapitalization.

(ii)

We assumed (i) 4,118,364 outstanding Storage warrants to acquire 4,118,364 shares of common stock at $0.35 - $0.50
per share; (ii) $1,618,550 in 12% convertible notes which are convertible into shares of our common stock at a
conversion price of $0.50 per share (3,237,100 shares), and one (1) warrant for each $1.00 invested (1,618,550
warrants), half at an exercise price of  $1.50 per share and half at exercise price $2.25 per share; and (iii) 3,441,000
options to purchase shares of our common stock for shares underlying stock options granted by Storage pursuant to its
2007 Stock Option Plan, with the latter being subject to vesting requirements of the respective stock option grants.  

(iii)

Takes into account the one for one exchange of our shares of common stock for outstanding shares of common stock
of Storage under the Storage Merger and the cancellation of 250,000 post-Recapitalization shares of our common
stock owned and acquired by Storage on January 5, 2007, which were cancelled under the Storage Merger.

Note on Bridge Loan Offering

(2) After the Storage Merger, we continued offering 12% convertible notes, selling an additional amount of
$1,531,000 through December 31, 2007, and $2,350,450 as part of the total of $5,500,000 offered.  The 12%
convertible notes were �restricted securities� as defined in Rule 144 of the Securities and Exchange Commission and
were convertible into shares of our common stock at $0.50 per each share, subject to there being an effective
registration statement covering the underlying shares that has been filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission.  We assumed these convertible notes and the other components of the unit offered (the �Unit�).  The Unit
was comprised of the convertible note, one-half warrant to acquire one-half share of our common stock for each $1.00
invested, with a five year term and exercisable at $1.50 per share of common stock (the �A Warrants�), and with no
exercise during the first six months and one day following issuance, unless there is an effective registration statement
covering the underlying common stock that has been filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (callable at
$0.01 per warrant, if our common stock trades for 20 consecutive days on its principal market above $2.25 per share,
also provided there is an effective registration statement covering the underlying shares that has been filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission); and one-half warrant to acquire one-half share of our common stock for each
$1.00 invested, with a five year term and exercisable at $2.25 per share (the �B Warrants�) under the same terms and
conditions, but callable at $0.01 per warrant if our common stock trades for 20 consecutive days on its principal
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market above $3.00 per share.  The convertible notes had a maturity date that was 18 months from the date of
issuance.  Convertible note holders are not considered stockholders until the convertible note are converted; and are
not entitled to vote on any matter submitted to stockholders
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by us. Many of these convertible notes were the subject of our Modification Proposal, which reduced the exercise
price of the 12% converted notes to $0.35 and the A and B warrants to $1.00 each.

$250,000 12% Convertible Note

On October 13, 2008, a 12% convertible Note in the amount of $250,000 with a maturity date that is six months from
the date of issuance that comes within the definition of �restricted securities� in Rule 144 of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and that is convertible into our common stock that also comes within such definition of �restricted
securities,� at $0.50 per each share; together with 150,000 warrants, with a five year term and exercisable at $0.50 per
share of common stock, that are also �restricted securities,� including the underlying common stock.  This 12%
convertible note was guaranteed by Jonathan S. Miner, who was then one or our directors, in consideration of the
execution and delivery by us of a confession of judgment for the  amount of the 12% Convertible Note and the grant
to Mr. Miner of certain warrants.

Exemptions from Registration for Sales of Restricted Securities.

We issued all of these securities to persons who were �accredited investors� or �sophisticated investors� as those terms are
defined in Rule 501 of Regulation D of the Securities and Exchange Commission; and each such person had prior
access to all material information about us. We believe that the offer and sale of these securities were exempt from the
registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the �Securities Act�), pursuant to Sections 4(2) and
4(6) thereof, and Rule 506 of Regulation D of the Securities and Exchange Commission.  Registration of sales to
�accredited investors� and a limited number of �sophisticated investors� are preempted from state regulation, though states
may require the filing of  notices, a fee and other administrative documentation like consents to service of process and
the like.

Some of these securities (stock options) that we assumed under the Storage 2007 Stock Option Plan were issued
pursuant to Rule 701of the Securities and Exchange Commission, and the issuance of these securities was registered
with the State of Minnesota pursuant to Minn. Stat. §80A.15 Subd. 2(s).

Use of Proceeds of Registered Securities

Neither we nor Storage have offered or sold any registered securities, with the exception of stock options granted
under the Storage 2007 Stock Option Plan (to which the Digitiliti, Inc. 2007 Stock Option Plan may be deemed to be a
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successor stock option plan), which were registered by notification with the State of Minnesota.  No proceeds were
received in connections with the grant of these stock options.

Purchases of Equity Securities by Us and Affiliated Purchasers

There were no purchases of our equity securities by us during the years ended December 31, 2009, and 2008.  Further,
except as outlined under the caption �Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities,� above, none of our affiliates purchased
any of our equity securities during the periods indicated.

ITEM 6:  SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Not required for smaller reporting companies.

ITEM 7:  MANAGEMENT�S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS
OF OPERATION

When used in this Annual Report, the words �may,� �will,� �expect,� �anticipate,� �continue,� �estimate,� �project,� �intend,� and
similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27a of the
Securities Act and Section 21e of the Exchange Act regarding events, conditions, and financial trends that may affect
our future plans of operations, business strategy, operating results, and financial position.  Persons reviewing this
Annual Report are cautioned that any forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and are
subject to risks and uncertainties and actual results may differ materially from those included within the
forward-looking statements as a result of various factors.  Such factors are discussed further below under �Trends and
Uncertainties,� and also include general economic factors and conditions that may directly or indirectly impact our
financial condition or results of operations.  Other references to forward-looking statements elsewhere in this Annual
Report should also be considered.
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Plan of Operation

Our business is developing and delivering superior storage technologies and methodologies enabling our customers to
manage, control, protect and access their information and data with ease.  Our core business is providing a cost
effective on-line data protection solution to the small to medium business (�SMB�) and small to medium enterprise
(�SME�) markets through our DigiBAK service (previously called �Pharaoh Business Fortress Storage Center�).  This
on-line data protection solution helps organizations properly manage and protect their entire network from one
centralized location.  

Our emerging business product announced in December, 2009, is called DigiLIBE.  DigiLIBE is a game-changing
product that addresses the root cause of companies� information problems of unmanaged growth, lack of information
governance and lack of ability to utilize and leverage stored data.  We designed the DigiLIBE product from our
experience in the storage and archiving business because we know that:

·

Organizations want to be able to govern their information;

·

People want to be able to access their information;

·

People and organizations want to be able to leverage the content of the information stored in the company, even if it is
archived;

·

People and organizations want to be able to put disparate pieces of content together in a context that can be used to
advantage; and

·

People and organizations want to be able to do this simply and inexpensively.  

DigiLIBE was designed from the bottom up and from a human user perspective to achieve those objectives

Edgar Filing: UDR, Inc. - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 38



Our DigiBAK solution can backup and restore emails and data on every machine in a network, including desktops,
laptops, file and print servers.  We provide storage through a �utility based computing� philosophy, where customers
pay for the gigabytes of data they store in DigiBAK Vault facility.  Our �digitiliti� Data Storage Center utilizes the
following technologies:

·

XO Communications Level 5 RAID System Data Center;

·

High performance fiber channel and iSCSI RAID Systems or Arrays (�RAID Systems�);

·

Foundry Networks Fast Iron Gigabit Ethernet Switches;

·

Qlogic fiber channel switches and iSCSI adapters;

·

Dell Power Edge servers;

·

N+1 Grid Architecture for backup;

·

Diesel powered generators to protect against power outages;

·

Unlimited bandwidth to grow;

·

Exanet Global Files System and IBM DS4100 RAID Systems.

Through our DigiBAK service, we combine powerful, agent-less backup software with our highly protected facility,
to deliver to our customers an efficient and effective online-offsite data backup and restore solution.  Our facilities
enable us to provide offsite disaster recovery emphasizing intraday protection and restore for all of our customer
primary data centers and geographically dispersed offices or campus settings.  Our DigiBAK Vault is located in the
base of the former Minneapolis Federal Reserve Bank.  It is a one of a kind facility providing web based on-demand
backup/restore service with all the benefits of direct fiber access to a �Level 5� data center. The Vault has 24/7 onsite
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physical security, including security guards, motion detectors, security cameras, card-key access, separate cages with
individual locking cabinets and ladder racking.  It also has battery generator back up power, temperature and humidity
controls and fire suppression systems. Geographically, we are located at the center point of the Metropolitan area
network.  Being centrally located at the focal point of the Twin Cities Fiber Channel and Gig loop, the pipeline for
data and load capabilities are immense.  

The DigiBAK Vault houses all of the hardware and software needed for our DigiBAK solution.  At the customer site,
DigiBAK administrator software is loaded on as many or as few workstations as desired and requires a valid logon
code, ensuring no unauthorized access.  At the customer site, the administrator software console acts as the interface
with the DigiBAK Vault service and enables the configuration of all backups and restores.  The DigiBAK backup
software is totally agent-less, requiring no additional software to be installed on any machines.  From the customer
administration console, the customer sets retention policies, schedules automatic backups and initiates restores. The
customer decides what files to backup: emails, Windows, Linux, Mac, Lotus, AS400 or many more.  Customers
typically start backing up one system and then add more systems to their backup sets as they continue to see how
easily our DigiBAK solution works.
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For large data volumes, the initial data backup may be downloaded to a portable disk unit at the customer site.  When
the full backup of data is complete, the disks are transported to the Data Storage Center where the data is loaded onto
the equipment in the Data Storage Center.  From then on, all data is backed up in incremental changes over the
Internet.  All data is encrypted before it leaves the customer site and when stored offsite.  The encryption key is
known only to the customer.  The data can be unencrypted only by the customer, who would do so upon the need of a
restore.  If a customer loses their local data, they simply enter the commands to restore it via the administration
console and data flows from the Data Storage Center back to the customer site.  If the customer loses all data,
DigiBAK can restore the latest data to a location of the customer�s choosing using a portable disk unit.  In addition to
being encrypted, the data is also highly compressed, making it safe and impenetrable from viruses and optimizing
customers� storage costs per gigabyte.  

We contract with XO Communications for our DigiBAK Vault space and communication lines. XO Communications
provides voice, data and IP services to businesses and other telecommunications companies in 80 metropolitan
markets across the United States.  This relationship helps control capital expenditures yet maintains flexibility to set
up a new data center in any one of 80 geographically dispersed locations throughout the world, thereby reducing any
geographic concerns.  

We utilize both direct in-house sales and sales through business partners such as VAR�s (Value Added Remarketers)
and third party integrators.  Our resellers have extensive data storage knowledge and expertise and an established
customer base.  Our sales plan targets reseller, OEM and channel partnerships regionally and nationally that possess
utility-oriented sales systems.  We and our partners target vertical markets specifically in the Small Business Market
(SMB) and the Small and Intermediate size Enterprises of 100 � 500 employees with an average of four sites and five �
20 TB of information to archive.  

As a result of our sales and marketing efforts of our existing product, DigiBAK, our customer base has expanded from
approximately 20 in fiscal 2005; to approximately 100 in fiscal 2006; to 508 in 2007; to 731 in 2008; 789 in 2009.
Correspondingly, our annual sales have increased from $402,638 in 2006; to $1,329,386 in 2007; to $3,075,308 in
2008 and $3,192,463 in 2009. Despite the significantly improved revenue from sales, we continue to struggle with
profitability because of new product development, legacy issues of past due accounts payable, and potential
convertible debt repayment requirements.  Through most of 2009, we struggled to clean up those legacy issues,
offered incentive for convertible debt holders to convert to equity and worked diligently to complete the new product
development.  As we enter into 2010, we have resolved most all the legacy issues and completed the new product
development of our DigiLIBE product.  While we still need to raise cash in 2010 to fund the launch of our new
product, we are in a much better position than we were a year ago.

In 2008, we began to pursue a strategy of developing new archiving software to provide more functionality to
customers using our current DigiBAK service.  Through 2009, we worked extremely hard to complete the
development of this product, called DigiLIBE, a virtual corporate library, and announced that product in December,
2009.   To raise capital, we determined that our future was in the new product and that it would be in our interests to
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sell the legacy DigiBAK business.  We signed a Letter of Intent (�LOI�) to pursue this sale with a buyer, after
considering a number of alternative interested parties.  From the LOI, we worked for three months to close on an
Asset Purchase Agreement.  We could not agree to acceptable terms mutually decided to end the negotiation.  Out of
that effort, we considered pursuing another potential buyer or evaluating structural changes to take our Vault forward
strategically.  There is synergism in both the current and the new business and it is to our long term advantage to work
out a strategy of moving forward with both and systematically transitioning to a new future business model,
leveraging information life cycle management and control, client-based access to all stored information and active
data archiving.  Implementing this strategy offers potentially much more shareholder value, but will require a strongly
managed effort between short and long term needs and goals. To better control expenses during this time, we
restructured our current DigiBAK business, outsourced technical support and cut resources.  In addition, we upgraded
our Asigra software to a new version offering improved performance and features.  We have not completely
eliminated the option of selling DigiBAK, but our short term approach to DigiBAK is one of �maintaining� that business
and customer set and shifting resources to the new DigiLIBE product.

Our reasons for making a strategic shift from current DigiBAK business to our future new product are:

(i)

to solve a major industry and customer problem of managing their continually growing information volume and
associated cost of storage and retrieval;

(ii)

to be able to access a larger share of opportunity in the information management storage business;

(iii)

to offer significant technological advantages in corporate policy level control of information and ability to leverage
knowledge from the information it creates; and

(iv)

to decide strategically how to apply capital and resources between our current and future business.  
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In the development of our new DigiLIBE product, we implemented a rigorous product development approach,
established a concrete architectural framework and a very specific product development plan, with key development
milestones and with automated test and integration system.  We restructured the product development team, and
invested heavily in customer, reseller and industry expert demonstrations to gain feedback on the product and to
identify critical features and functions needed for Release 1 of this product and beyond.  We established three key
milestones in our development plan, the first being a May 15, 2009, date to have the �reference platform� completed.
 This means that the basic technology underpinnings and performance capabilities of DigiLIBE are operational and
meeting requirements.  This �reference platform� is the core intellectual property, we have and will further introduce to
the market and validated the feasibility of our approach.  The second milestone was June 15, 2009.  In this milestone,
we began to integrate end user and back-office function.  The third milestone was July 15, 2009, which constitutes
Release 1 �Function-freeze.� We have successfully completed each milestone and entered customer Beta Testing in 3Q,
2009.  In the 4th quarter we integrated graphics with common look and feel and additional administrator reporting
capabilities.   DigiLIBE has received excellent feedback on the capability, performance and function our new product
delivers since its December, 2009, initial release. Our sales and prospecting efforts have also reaffirmed the potential
of selling DigiBAK services as part of a DigiLIBE sale.

Through confidential disclosures and demonstrations, and from industry analysts, we have determined that our new
product is positioned to change the current information management and storage approach and achieve significant
market opportunity.   This is because we will offer a solution addressing the root cause of an industry-wide problem of
data proliferation, volume growth, limited-to-no policy-level information control and all of the associated cost and
management problems that are a result � and we can solve these problems with significantly better cost performance
and simplicity.  Our new product represents a significant step toward our goal of becoming a technology leader in the
information content and context management marketplace.  This product offers a breakthrough approach to how
companies store, archive and utilize information for competitive advantage. It will finally enable customers to control
the information they create and access that information to gain business intelligence.  DigiLIBE is disruptive
technology in that it differs from the existing industry solutions in its completely integrated and simplified approach in
one solution (versus linking point solutions together), and in the price point to implement and manage.  Further, we
believe there are no competitors that currently offer the breadth and depth of this approach.

There are four key claims filed for patent in our initial patent application filing of January, 2009.  These include: (1)
file creation, metadata attributions and storage; (2) Persistent access to files; (3) File Policies (data governance), and
(4) Global de-duplication.  The heart of the architecture is its client, or human approach.  This client-centric approach
is unique in the industry and provides differentiated capability to capture critical information and apply policies at the
time of creation.   Most other approaches capture metadata and apply policies at the time of storage, missing critical
creation information.  In addition, it enables �Global de-duplication� or system-wide de-duplication, versus point in time
de-duplication.  Most importantly, what DigiLIBE does is to take unstructured documents and emails and creates a
common information object that can then be accessed and analyzed to leverage information and gain intelligence from
all the information employees create daily, store, and archive for years.  DigiLIBE organizes CONTENT and puts
information in CONTEXT.
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Similar to our current DigiBAK business, our channel strategy for DigiLIBE is to use resellers.  Unlike our current
DigiBAK product, our reseller approach is to target regional and national resellers who have technical support and
infrastructure to deploy the product into the small and intermediate size enterprises of 50 to 500 employees or
workstations.  Our strategy is to develop these channels and, because of their broader market presence, be able to
achieve market penetration more rapidly.  Our targeted markets are regulated industries with a vertical segment focus
on Financial, Legal, Health Care and government (state, local).  We price DigiLIBE as a one-time fee for hardware,
software and a per-client (user or workstation) fee, plus annual maintenance.  Further, there is an on-going fee for the
archival part of the product which is based on the amount of data customers archive.  For resellers, the incentive is that
they can grow their business by selling the product, plus they get a monthly annuity from the cost of data archiving.

We have begun to re-staff and prepare for growth by hiring marketing, sales, and technical customer support
personnel. The company has been organized into four major areas of focus.  

(1) An operational arm to manage and focus on the current DigiBAK operations, including customer support and
satisfaction, continuous operational improvements and on sales support and growth, both with business partners and
direct customers.  In addition, the operations organization will build and manage internal IT infrastructure in support
of DigiLIBE.  

(2) A new product development team to focus on launching Release 1 of DigiLIBE, determining features and function
for Release 2 and strengthening the development and QA release system and process.
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(3) A sales and marketing team to implement the marketing strategy, sales plan and technical customer support
process  for DigiLIBE, including marketing deliverables, target markets, competitive intercept strategies, reseller
development, and support system.  

(4) A financial and administrative team to focus on business results, expense management, business controls, investor
and outside communications, and Human Resources.

In order to fund the new product launch, we have been aggressively reducing overall operating costs to increase
profitability of our DigiBAK operations.  Since 2008, we have reduced our annual salaries and wages by over 20%,
while increasing operational efficiencies and lowering overall costs of goods sold.  As previously stated, we
implemented additional restructuring of our DigiBAK operations to increase profitability, improve cash flow and
reduce cash burn rate. Through these actions, we reduced our cash burn rate per month by approximately $100,000 in
2009.  From 2008 to 2009, we reduced our operating expenses by 47%. We continue to raise additional capital (April
and November, 2009 offering, see below) to assure we have the financial resources to achieve our strategy, albeit that
we are balancing our desire to aggressively launch our new product with the reality of available capital. We have
agreed to a payment plan with our primary Vault software provider, Asigra.  This payment plan addresses the
approximately $550,000 past due licenses from 2008 as well as those licenses due in 2009 and first three quarters of
2010 of approximately $300,000.  The payment plan addresses all of these costs, allocated in a monthly payment plan
which completes in March, 2010. We completed the Data Sales lease in November, 2009, and negotiated a $480,000
liability to Exanet down to $80,000, which was paid off in December 2009.  The results of these actions should enable
us to achieve break-even cash flow in 2010 as we accelerate new product sales.  We held our first annual shareholder
meeting on October 15, 2009.  

Continuing operations have been funded, in large part, through our $5.5 million offering of 12% convertible notes
initiated in March 2007, and our $750,000 secured convertible note offerings of April 2009 and our $1,000,000 equity
raise initiated in October, 2009 (partly completed in November, 2009, and increased to $1,500,000, substantially all of
which has been completed post-December 31, 2009 [$1,402,879 at April 13, 2010]). Prior to implementation of the
Modification Proposal (discussed below), the March 2007 12% convertible notes reflected a $0.50 per share
conversion rate upon expiration of an 18 month maturity date, currently resulting in principal and accrued interest due
of $723,834 estimated  as of December 31, 2009. In addition, for every dollar invested, these convertible notes
allowed each investor to receive one-half warrant to acquire one-half of a share of our common stock with a five year
term at $1.50 per share and $2.25 per share, respectively. No warrant could have been exercised during the first six
months and one day following issuance, unless there was an effective registration statement covering the underlying
common stock that has been filed covering the shares underlying these warrants with the Securities and Exchange
Commission.  The April 2009 convertible note offering terms were 12% convertible notes for 24 months, secured
against the Data Store Center Vault, converting to $0.35 per share, and warrant coverage at $0.50 per share.  We
completed the first secured $750,000 offering in October, 2009.  That equity round of financing was a straight $0.20
per common share capital raise.  We also raised an additional $545,000 at November, 2009, of our equity offering of
$1,000,000 that was approved at $0.20 per share in subsequently completed and increased to a $1,500,000 equity
offering at the same per share price.
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In late 2008 and early 2009, we directly contacted our 12% convertible note holders to seek to restructure this debt by
asking the holders to extend the due dates of their respective convertible notes or to encourage them to convert their
respective convertible notes (the �Modification Proposal�).  On November 13, 2008, as a demonstration of confidence in
our current plan, and as an act of good faith, our Board of Directors unilaterally approved a reduction in the $1.50 and
$2.25 exercise prices of the convertible note holders warrants to $1.00 for both classes of warrants. In addition, our
Board of Directors approved an overall reduction in the conversion price of all convertible notes from $0.50 per share
to $0.35 per share; the resolutions provided that the reduced conversion price would be retroactive to include any
convertible note holders who had already elected to convert their respective convertible notes.  $35,000 in convertible
notes had already been converted at the time of these resolutions; accordingly, we were obligated to issue a total of
109,000 shares of our common stock for division among these holders. The table below present�s information about
our 12% convertible notes still outstanding following the conversions and extensions of convertible notes under our
Modification Proposal. Also, see Note 10 to our consolidated financial statements above. With the progress we have
made and the emergence of our new product DigiLIBE, we have been able to maintain most note holder�s interest in
our potential. We continue to work with convertible note holders who have not converted or extended to work out
mutually agreeable solutions to avoid cash drain as we launch our new product. The following table reflects as of
December 31, 2009, the aggregate principal, accrued interest the combined totals associated with our $5,500,000
convertible note raise that came due during the 4th quarter of 2009, and subsequent quarterly periods.  

27

Edgar Filing: UDR, Inc. - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 46



Outstanding Convertible Note Table at December 31, 2009

Principal &

Principal

Acc. Interest

Accrued

Quarter when

Balance of

on

Interest on

Conv. Notes

Conv. Notes

Conv. Notes

Conv. Notes

Outstanding

Outstanding

Outstanding

Outstanding

come due

 $     572,800

 $  151,034
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 $  723,834

12/31/2009

 $     190,000

 $    53,720

 $  243,720

3/31/2010

 $      55,000

 $    17,752

 $    72,752

6/30/2010

 $     560,000

 $  161,513

 $  721,513

9/30/2010

 $     295,000

 $    78,328

 $  373,328

12/31/2010

 $     490,000

 $  107,947

 $  597,947

3/31/2011

 $     387,500

 $    75,536

 $  463,036

6/30/2011
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 $     272,000

 $    47,464

 $  319,464

9/30/2011

 $  2,822,300

 $  693,294

$  3,515,594

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our liquidity is dependent, in the short term, on proceeds from newly issued debt and the sale of our common stock
for cash.  In the long term, we may need to continue expanding our capacity of the Data Storage Center by investing
in property and equipment and software licenses.

We have financed our operations, debt service and capital requirements through cash flows generated from operations,
the issuance of secured and unsecured convertible debt financing, capital leases and issuance of equity securities. We
had a working capital deficit of $3,417,761 at December 31, 2009. We had cash of $141,806 as of December 31,
2009, compared to having cash of $36,317 at December 31, 2008.

We generated $31,736 of net cash from operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2009, compared to using
$1,235,073 for the year ended December 31, 2008. Cash used in operating activities during the year ended December
31, 2009, funded a net loss of $4,938,083. This net loss was offset by non-cash charges of $1,225,194 for amortization
and depreciation, $118,362 associated with stock options expense, $1,939,947 related to amortization of the discount
on our convertible debt and deferred financing costs, $87,656 gain on settlement of debt, $81,787 bad debts expense,
$62,029 for shares issued for interest, $124,323 for common stock issued for services, $200,304 additional beneficial
conversion feature on converted notes, $389,818 warrants expense and $1,055,976 in the cumulative increase in
accounts payable and accrued expenses. Cash used in operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2008,
funded a net loss of $7,332,846. This net loss was offset by non-cash charges of $1,053,159 for amortization and
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depreciation, $1,217,738 associated with stock options expense, $1,420,020 related to amortization of the discount on
our convertible debt and deferred financing costs, $780,686 common stock for services and purchase of R&D, and
($354,961) associated with an increase in accounts receivable and $816,324 associated with an increase in accrued
expenses.

Net cash flows used by investing activities was $45,702 for the year ended December 31, 2009, compared to net cash
flows used in investing activities of $559,635 for the year ended December 31, 2008. Both comparable totals are
attributed to our purchase of property and equipment and software licenses during these two periods.

Net cash flow provided by financing activities were $118,735 for the year ended December 31, 2009, compared to net
cash provided by financing activities of $1,589,692 for the year ended December 31, 2008. During 2009, cash
provided by financing activities is primarily due to proceeds of $683,500 received from the issuance of secured
convertible debt, offset by $66,500 related financing costs and $501,500 funds received from issuance of our common
stock, offset by $43,500 in related issuance costs.  We used these proceeds to make $442,723 in capital lease
payments and $647,042 of payments on notes payable. During 2008, cash provided by financing activities is primarily
due to proceeds of $2,545,400 received from the issuance of convertible debt, offset by $679,140 payments on capital
leases.

After implementation of our Modification Proposal referenced above respecting our outstanding convertible notes, the
following table reflects as of March 31, 2010, the aggregate principal, accrued interest the combined totals associated
with our $5,500,000 12% convertible note offering funding that comes due during the 1st quarter of 2010 and
subsequent quarterly periods.  
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Principal &

Principal

Acc. Interest

Accrued

Quarter when

Balance of

on

Interest on

Conv. Notes

Conv. Notes

Conv. Notes

Conv. Notes

Outstanding

Outstanding

Outstanding

Outstanding

come due

 $     747,800

 $     227,922

 $     975,722
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3/31/2010

 $      55,000

 $      19,402

 $      74,402

6/30/2010

 $     560,000

 $     178,313

 $     738,313

9/30/2010

 $     295,000

 $      86,578

 $     381,578

12/31/2010

 $     490,000

 $     122,647

 $     612,647

3/31/2011

 $     387,500

 $      87,161

 $     474,661

6/30/2011

 $     272,000

 $      55,624

 $     327,624

9/30/2011

 $  2,807,300
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 $     777,647

 $  3,585,397

An aggregate of $723,834 of these 12% convertible notes was due at December 31, 2009; and an aggregate of
$975,722 of these 12% convertible notes was due at March 31, 2010 (this amount includes the sum due at December
31, 2008). Although we are continuing to discuss payment and/or conversion or extension of these notes with note
holders, these outstanding obligations pose a risk to our ongoing operations.  

Results of Operations

For the 12 month periods ended December 31, 2009 and 2008

Our sales for 2009 increased 4% to $3,192,463 compared to $3,075,308 in 2008, reflecting a $117,155 increase in
annual revenue.  This revenue increase is consistent with the net new 58 customers we added to our DigiBAK service
during 2009, for a total of 789 customers as of December 31, 2009 compared to 731 customers as of December 31,
2008.   During 2009, we experienced considerable competitive and economic pressure on our pricing due to an
ever-expanding range of viable alternative storage platforms and services offered throughout the industry and the
weak economy. Concurrent with the pricing pressure, we took action to restructure our resources, strengthened our
VAR relationships, repositioned our offering and refined other aspects of the DigiBAK business to sustain our
margins.  Customers remain highly satisfied with the service and simplicity of our DigiBAK offering, attributes of
which are competitive differentiators and sought after by new customers.   

Gross margin for 2009 was $1,069,830 compared to $1,028,027 in 2008, reflecting a sustained 33% gross margin for
both years. This predictable gross margin reflects the inherent benefits of our business model that relies on the organic
growth of our customer�s data, yet does not require a proportionate expenditure in capital costs. We manage our Data
Storage Center to plan for growth and capacity and can efficiently manage and support this data growth without
requiring significant capital cost in the short term.  We do, however, plan to refresh our hardware technology on a
three to four year cycle, which will be coming up in 2010.

Research and development expenses during 2009 were $830,247 compared to $1,731,766 in 2008. The 2008 costs
reflect the purchase of the StorageSwitch software.  It also reflects some difficulty in managing outsourced DigiLIBE
software development to a third party development firm in India.  In 2009, we reorganized the development effort,
redefined the DigiLIBE architecture and release plan, brought the software development in-house with a combination
of internal and targeted skilled contractors and streamlined the development process, yielding a much more efficient
and effective approach.  This internal development approach provided greater focus and oversight over design
architecture and cost control, reflected in the significant decrease in overall R&D expenditures and our successful
development and first quarter 2010 roll-out of our DigiLIBE product.  
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Consistent with our need to maintain greater focus and oversight of our expenditures, our selling and marketing 
expenses decreased by $445,498 from $782,546 in 2008 to $337,048 in 2009.  This improvement in expenditures
reflects the restructuring of our DigiBAK selling and marketing effort and a scaled back marketing effort on DigiLIBE
for the first three quarters of the year while we were still in heavy product development on the product.

General and administrative expenses decreased by $1,480,095 to $1,989,177 in 2009 compared to $3,469,272 incurred
during 2008. The decrease is attributable to our conscious efforts to slash costs and streamline administration. The
business restructuring in 2009 resulted in target efforts to reduce general overhead expenses through personnel
realignment to priorities and goals, vendor contract negotiations, stock based compensation alternatives, insurance
costs and a daily/weekly focus between the CEO and CFO on expenditures.
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Interest expense for 2009 increased by $696,012 to $2,939,097, compared to $2,243,085 incurred in 2008.  The
increase is primarily interest expense from the required recognition of the beneficial conversion feature and the
unamortized warrant costs associated with the large portion of the $5,500,000 12% convertible note debt that was
converted to equity during 2009.   

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We had no off-balance sheet arrangements during 2009 and 2008.

ITEM 7A:  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Not required for smaller reporting companies.

ITEM 8:  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

DIGITILITI, INC.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2009 AND 2008
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors

Digitiliti, Inc.

St. Paul, Minnesota

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Digitiliti, Inc. as of December 31, 2009 and 2008
and the related consolidated statement of operations, cash flows and changes in stockholders� deficit for the years then
ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company�s management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatements. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to
perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration of internal control
over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company�s internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
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In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of Digitiliti, Inc. as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years
then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as
a going concern. As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has suffered losses
from operations and has a working capital deficit. These conditions raise substantial doubt about the Company�s ability
to continue as a going concern. Management�s plans in regards to these matters are also described in Note 2. The
consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this
uncertainty.

/s/ MaloneBailey, LLP

www.malone-bailey.com

Houston, Texas

April 15, 2010
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DIGITILITI, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS

December 31,

2009

2008

CURRENT
ASSETS
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Cash

$

141,086

$

36,317

Accounts
receivable, net

484,203

549,127

Other current assets
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220,304

201,488

Total current assets

845,593

786,932
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Property and
equipment, net

444,675

1,105,113

Software license,
net

713,199

1,302,158

Deferred financing
costs
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113,334

202,484

Other assets

7,322

6,322
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Total assets

$

2,124,123

$

3,403,009
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LIABILITIES AND
STOCKHOLDERS�

DEFICIT
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CURRENT
LIABILITIES

Accounts payable �
trade

$

287,751

$

234,957

Accounts payable �
related parties
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7,861

104,869

Accrued expenses

1,222,143

1,145,215

Due to related
parties

148,638
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87,622

Notes payable

286,831

875,365

Notes payable �
related parties

231,540

231,540

      Convertible debt
� related parties
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500,000

258,725

Current maturities
of convertible debt

1,532,771

2,435,466

Current maturities
of capital lease
obligations

45,819
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439,318

Total current
liabilities

4,263,354

5,813,077

Convertible debt,
non-current
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1,646,502

1,758,252

Capital lease
obligations,
non-current

24,043

65,037

Deferred rent

11,552
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18,130

Other liabilities

3,607

3,607

Total liabilities

5,949,058

7,658,103
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STOCKHOLDERS�
DEFICIT

Common stock,
$.001 par value;
100,000,000 shares
authorized,

    38,808,736 and
26,665,020 shares
issued and
outstanding

38,809
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26,665

Additional paid-in
capital

15,448,392

10,092,294

Accumulated deficit

(19,312,136

)

(14,374,053
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)

Total stockholders�
deficit

(3,824,935

)

(4,255,094

)

Total liabilities and
stockholders� deficit

$

2,124,123
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$

3,403,009

See notes to consolidated financial statements

.
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DIGITILITI, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years Ended
December 31,

2009

2008
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Revenues

$

3,192,463

$

3,075,308

Cost of revenues

2,122,633

2,047,281
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Gross profit

1,069,830

1,028,027

Operating
expenses:
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Selling and
marketing

337,048

782,546

General and
administrative

1,989,177

3,469,272

Research and
development
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830,247

1,731,766

Total operating
expenses

3,156,472

5,983,584

Loss from
operations
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(2,086,642

)

(4,955,557

)

(Gain) loss on
settlement of debt

(87,656

)

124,204
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Interest expense

2,939,097

2,243,085

Net loss

$

(4,938,083

)

$

(7,322,846

)
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Net loss per
common share �
basic and diluted

$

(0.14

)

$

(0.29

)

Weighted-average
shares
outstanding � basic
and diluted
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34,572,856

25,613,237

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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DIGITILITI, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS� DEFICIT

Additional

Stockholders�

Common Stock

Paid-In

Accumulated
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Shares

Amount

Capital

Deficit

Deficit

B A L A N C E ,
DECEMBER
31, 2007

25,081,444

$

25,081
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$

6,206,496

$

(7,051,207)

$

(819,630

)
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     Stock issued
for convertible
debt

869,562

870
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260,790

-

261,660

     Stock issued
for settlement
of debt

108,004

108
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161,898

-

162,006

     Stock issued
for services

219,760

220
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405,466

-

405,686

     Stock issued
f o r  R & D
project

250,000

250
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374,750

-

375,000

     C a s h l e s s
e x e r c i s e  o f
warrants

136,250

136

Edgar Filing: UDR, Inc. - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 97



(136

)

-

-

      Discount on
convertible
debt relating to
warrants

-

-
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1,288,767

-

1,288,767

     Additional
beneficial
conversion
feature on

          converted
debts

-
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-

85,812

-

85,812

     War r an t s
expense

-
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-

90,713

-

90,713

     Employee
s t o ck  op t i o n
expense

-
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-

1,217,738

-

1,217,738

     Net loss

-
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-

-

(7,322,846)

(7,322,846)
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B A L AN C E ,
DECEMBER
31, 2008

26,665,020
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26,665

10,092,294

(14,374,053)

(4,255,094)
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   Stock issued
for convertible
debt

7,656,606

7,657
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2,695,928

-

2,703,585

   Stock issued
for cash

2,725,000

2,725
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498,775

-

501,500

   Stock issued
for services

656,249

656

Edgar Filing: UDR, Inc. - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 108



123,667

-

124,323

   Stock issued
as payment of
payables

1,105,861

1,106
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245,316

-

246,422

   Bene f i c i a l
c o n v e r s i o n
f e a t u r e  o n
converted notes

-
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-

977,029

-

977,029

   W a r r a n t s
expense

-
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-

389,818

-

389,818

   Discount on
c o n v e r t i b l e
debt relating to
warrants

-
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-

123,618

-

123,618

   W a r r a n t s
i s s u e d  a s
set t lement  of
liabilities

-
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-

109,161

-

109,161

   W a r r a n t s
issued for debt
financing costs

-
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-

74,424

-

74,424

   Emp l o y e e
s t o ck  op t i o n
expense

-
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-

118,362

-

118,362

   Net loss

-
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-

-

(4,938,083

)

(4,938,083

)

B a l a n c e ,
December 31,
2009

38,808,736
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$

38,809

$

15,448,392

$

(19,312,136

)

$

(3,824,935

)

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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DIGITILITI, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended
December 31,

2009

2008

OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
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Net loss

$

(4,938,083

)

$

(7,322,846

)

Adjustments to
reconcile net loss
to net cash used by

operating
activities:

Depreciation
expense

714,370
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753,803

Amortization of
software licenses

510,824

299,356

Amortization of
deferred financing
costs

230,074

295,472

Amortization of
discount on
convertible debt
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1,709,873

1,124,548

(Gain) loss on
settlement of debt

(87,656

)

124,204

Bad debt expense

81,787

98,376
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Shares issued for
interest expense

62,029

-

Common stock
issued for services

124,323

405,686

Common stock
issued for R&D
project

-
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375,000

Employee stock
option expense

118,362

1,217,738

Additional
beneficial
conversion feature
on

               converted
debt

200,304

85,812
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Warrants expense

389,818

74,423

Changes in
operating assets
and liabilities:

Accounts
receivable

(16,863

)
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(354,961

)

Other current
assets

(18,816

)

(105,961

)

Other assets

(1,000

)

(5,172

)

Accounts payable
- trade

355,382
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777,672

Accounts payable �
related parties

(97,008

)

104,869

Accrued expenses

700,594

816,324

Deferred rent
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(6,578

)

584

Net cash provided
by (used in)
operating activities

31,736

(1,235,073

)
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INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

Purchases of
property and
equipment

(45,702

)

(112,110

)

Purchases of
software licenses

-
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(447,525

)

Net cash used in
investing activities

(45,702

)

(559,635

)

FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
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Proceeds from
issuance of
convertible debt,
net of financing
costs

683,500

2,545,400

Payments on
convertible debt

(100,000

)

-
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Payments on
capital lease
obligations

(442,723

)

(679,140

)

Payments on notes
payable

(647,042

)

(210,909

)

Proceeds from
notes payable �
related parties

75,000
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175,000

Payments on notes
payable � related
parties

-

(260,000

)

Proceeds from due
to related parties

70,500

20,341

Payments on due
to related parties
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(22,000

)

(1,000

)

Proceeds from sale
of common stock

501,500

Net cash provided
by financing
activities

118,735

1,589,692
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NET INCREASE
(DECREASE) IN
CASH

104,769

(205,016

)
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CASH

Beginning of year

36,317

241,333
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End of year

$

141,086

$

36,317

36
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Cash
paid for
interest

$

54,736

$

103,382

Cash
paid for
income
tax

-

-

Non-Cash Financing and Investing Activities:
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Conversion
of debt and
accrued
interest to
equity

$

2,641,556

$   261,660

Addition to
property and
equipment
and
maintenance
fees paid

through
issuance of
note

406,613

-

Accrued
interest
converted to
debt
principal
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99,411

-

Warrants
issued for
debt
financing
costs

74,424

-

Equipment
acquired
under capital
lease,
including
issuance

of warrants
for capital
lease

8,230

314,464

Discount due
to warrants
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granted with
convertible
notes

123,618

1,288,767

Cashless
exercise of
warrants

-

136

Issuance of
common
stock
through
accrued
expense

-
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37,802

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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DIGITILITI, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The Company and Nature of Operations

Digitiliti, Inc. (the Company or Digitiliti) provides data protection solutions to the small to medium businesses and
markets in the United States.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements included the accounts of Digitiliti, a Delaware corporation and its wholly owned
subsidiary, Cyclone Acquisition Corp., a Minnesota corporation. All significant intercompany balances and
transactions were eliminated.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that may affect
certain reported amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. The
significant estimates relate to the collectability of accounts receivable, useful lives of software licenses, valuation of
beneficial conversion feature on convertible debts, valuation of warrants and stock options, and valuation allowance
for deferred income taxes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Credit Risk
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Cash is maintained in bank accounts which, at times, may exceed federally insured limits.  The Company has not
experienced any losses in such accounts and does not believe it is exposed to any significant credit risk on cash.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on the aging, historical experience and management�s judgment of the
individual accounts receivable.  Accounts receivable are written off against the allowance when management
determines a balance is uncollectible and no longer actively pursues collection.  Accounts receivable is presented net
of the allowance for doubtful accounts of $162,263 and $100,366 at December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation.  Depreciation is computed using the
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets.  Computer equipment and furniture and
fixtures are depreciated over three to five years.  Maintenance and repairs are charged to operations when incurred.

Software Licenses

Certain software is licensed from two vendors to facilitate the secure online data storage solution. The licenses are
nonexclusive. Upon full payment, the licenses are owned outright by the Company and are amortized over five years.

Long-Lived Assets

All long-lived assets are reviewed when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of such
assets may not be recoverable.  An impairment loss is recognized when estimated undiscounted cash flows that can be
generated by those assets are less than the carrying value of the assets.  When an impairment loss is
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recognized, the carrying amount is reduced to its estimated fair value based on appraisals or other reasonable methods
to estimate fair value.

Deferred Financing Costs

Costs associated with the issuance of debt is capitalized as deferred financing costs and amortized into interest
expense using the effective interest method over the life of the related debt. At December 31, 2009 and 2008, deferred
financing costs incurred totaled $715,929 and $575,005, respectively. Accumulated amortization was $602,595 and
$372,521, respectively.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying value of short-term financial instruments, including cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and
accrued expenses, short-term borrowings and capital lease obligations approximate fair value due to the relatively
short period to maturity for these instruments. The long-term borrowings approximate fair value since the related rates
of interest approximates current market rates.  

Income Taxes

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future income tax consequences of events
that have been included in the consolidated financial statements or income tax returns.  Deferred income tax assets and
liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities
using tax rates in effect for the years in which the differences are expected to reverse.

In evaluating the ultimate realization of deferred income tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely
than not that the deferred income tax assets will be realized. Management establishes a valuation allowance if it is
more likely than not that all or a portion of the deferred income tax assets will not be utilized. The ultimate realization
of deferred income tax assets is dependent on the generation of future taxable income, which must occur prior to the
expiration of the net operating loss carryforwards.
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The Company also follows the guidance related to accounting for income tax uncertainties.  In accounting for
uncertainty in income taxes, the Company recognizes the financial statement benefit of a tax position only after
determining that the relevant tax authority would more likely than not sustain the position following an audit. For tax
positions meeting the more likely than not threshold, the amount recognized in the consolidated financial statements is
the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement with the relevant
tax authority.  No liability for unrecognized tax benefits was recorded as of December 31, 2009 and 2008.

It is the Company�s practice to recognize penalties and/or interest related to income tax matters in interest and penalties
expense.

The Company is subject to income taxes in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various states and local jurisdictions. Tax
regulations within each jurisdiction are subject to the interpretation of the related tax laws and regulations and require
significant judgment to apply. The Company is not currently under examination by any taxing jurisdiction.

Revenue Recognition

Substantially all of the Company�s revenues are derived from monthly fees for storages services pursuant to each
customer�s service agreement. Service agreements with customers are typically 36-months and allow for termination
upon 30 days written notice. The monthly fee is based on the volume data storage utilized. Revenues are recognized in
the month the services are provided. The Company�s product offering does not include hardware and bundled
arrangements are currently not offered. To the extent that future revenues are derived from such offerings, those
revenues will be accounted for pursuant to the guidance on revenue recognition covering multiple element
arrangements.  
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Revenues from monthly fees are recognized based on the Company�s determination that the criteria provided in the
guidance on revenue recognition have been met. These criteria include that persuasive evidence of an arrangement
exists, delivery has occurred or services have been rendered, the seller�s price to the buyer is fixed or determinable and
collectability is reasonably assured. The Company determines that these criteria have been met by entering into
written service agreements with its customers that specifically state the fees for set-up and monthly services. Set-up
fees are invoiced after the actual set-up has been performed. Monthly fees are invoiced based on the actual amount of
data stored on the Company�s secure vault system during a particular month. Collectability of revenues has not been an
issue as of December 31, 2009 and 2008. If the monthly service fees were not paid, the monthly service would be
discontinued.

Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. The Company expensed third party development costs
totaling $830,247 and $1,731,766 in 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Share-Based Payment

The Company accounts for share-based awards issued to employees and non-employees in accordance with the
guidance on share-based payments.  Accordingly, employee share-based payment compensation is measured at the
grant date, based on the fair value of the award, and is recognized as an expense over the requisite service period
(generally the vesting is over a 3-year period).  Additionally, share-based awards to non-employees are expensed over
the period in which the related services are rendered at their fair value.  

Net Loss per Share

Basic net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss by the weighted-average number of common shares
outstanding.  Diluted net loss per share is computed based on the weighted-average number of common shares
outstanding increased by dilutive common stock equivalents.  For the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008,
potential dilutive securities had an anti-dilutive effect and were not included in the calculation of diluted earnings per
common share.

Reclassifications

Edgar Filing: UDR, Inc. - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 148



Certain 2008 amounts have been reclassified to conform to 2009 presentation.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2009, the Company adopted the Financial Accounting Standards Board (�FASB�) Accounting Standards
Codification (the �Codification�), as the single source of authoritative nongovernmental Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles, in the United States of America. All existing accounting standard documents, such as FASB, American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Emerging Issues Task Force and other related literature, excluding guidance
from the Securities and Exchange Commission (�SEC�), have been superseded by the Codification. All other
non-grandfathered, non-SEC accounting literature not included in the Codification has become non-authoritative. The
Codification did not change GAAP, but instead introduced a new structure that combines all authoritative standards
into a comprehensive, topically organized online database. The Codification was effective for interim or annual
periods ending after September 15, 2009, and the Company adopted the Codification during the quarter ended
September 30, 2009. The adoption of the Codification did not have an impact on the Company�s financial condition or
results of operations, but does impact the Company�s financial reporting process by eliminating all references to
pre-codification standards.

In January 1, 2009, the Company adopted new accounting guidance which specifies that issuers of convertible debt
instruments that may be settled in cash upon conversion should separately account for the liability and equity
components in a manner reflecting their nonconvertible debt borrowing rate when interest costs are recognized in
subsequent periods.  The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the financial statements
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Effective January 1, 2009, the Company adopted new accounting guidance for determining whether an instrument or
an embedded feature is indexed to the entity�s own stock.  Overall, it specifies that a contract that would otherwise
meet the definition of a derivative, but is both (a) indexed our own stock and (b) classified in stockholders� equity in
the statement of financial position would not be considered a derivative financial instrument. The guidance provides a
new two-step model to be applied in determining whether a financial instrument or an embedded feature is indexed to
an issuer�s own stock, including evaluating the instrument�s contingent exercise and settlement provisions, and thus
able to qualify for the scope exception mentioned above.  It also clarifies the impact of foreign-currency-denominated
strike prices and market-based employee stock option valuation instruments on the evaluation.   The adoption of the
guidance did not have a material impact on the financial statements.

On January 1, 2009, we adopted new accounting guidance on fair value measurements. This new guidance defines fair
value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles and expands
disclosures about fair value measurements.  In June 2009, we adopted new guidance which requires disclosures about
fair value of financial instruments in interim as well as in annual financial statements.  The adoption of the guidance
did not have a material impact on the financial statements.

In January 2010, the FASB issued authoritative guidance that requires reporting entities to make new disclosures
about recurring or nonrecurring fair-value measurements including significant transfers into and out of Level 1 and
Level 2 fair value measurements, and information on purchases, sales, issuances, and settlements on a gross basis in
the reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements. The guidance is effective for annual reporting periods
beginning after December 15, 2009, except for Level 3 reconciliation disclosures, which are effective for annual
periods beginning after December 15, 2010.  The Company does not expect these disclosures to have a material
impact on the financial statements.  

In October 2009, the FASB issued amendments to the guidance on software revenue recognition altering the scope of
revenue recognition guidance for software deliverables to exclude items sold that include hardware with software that
is essential to the hardware�s functionality. This authoritative guidance will be effective prospectively for revenue
arrangements entered into or materially modified in fiscal years beginning on or after June 15, 2010. Early adoption is
permitted. The Company is still assessing the potential impact of adopting the new authoritative guidance.

No other new accounting pronouncement issued or effective has had, or is expected to have, a material impact on the
Company�s consolidated financial statements.

2.

Going Concern
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As shown in the accompanying financial statements, the Company has incurred net losses of $4,938,083 and
$7,322,846 for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. In addition, the Company has an
accumulated deficit of $19,312,136 and a working capital deficit of $3,417,761 as of December 31, 2009. These
conditions raise substantial doubt as to the Company�s ability to continue as a going concern. In response to these
conditions, the Company may raise additional capital through the sale of equity securities, through an offering of debt
securities or through borrowings from financial institutions or individuals. The financial statements do not include any
adjustments that might be necessary if the Company is unable to continue as a going concern.

3.

Acquisition of Software

On March 13, 2008, Digitiliti executed a Technology Purchase Agreement (�TPA�) with StorageSwitch, LLC, a
Colorado limited liability company (�StorageSwitch�), to acquire a commercially-proven technology software. This
technology software compliments Digitiliti�s current business model and also provides a base layer that Digitiliti will
build upon to develop enhanced storage service offerings.  

In connection with the purchase, we made an initial cash payment of $10,000 upon execution of the Letter of Intent in
January 2008, and a cash payment of $200,000 on the date of closing. In addition, we will make a $40,000 cash
payment payable when the software is fully developed and in production. We also issued 250,000 shares of common
stock in connection with the purchase, valued at $375,000 based upon the quoted market price
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of our stock on the date of the purchase. We will issue an additional 250,000 shares when the software is fully
developed and in production. These shares will be valued based on the quoted market price of our stock on the date of
issuance.

The software was not technologically feasible on the date of the acquisition. As a result, this transaction was
accounted for as purchased research and development costs and was expensed as research and development expense.

In conjunction with the execution of the TPA, Digitiliti and StorageSwitch also signed the following agreements; (1) a
Non-Compete Agreement, (2) a Non-Disclosure Agreement, (3) a Statement of Work Agreement and (4) a Consulting
Services Agreement. Under the Consulting Service Agreement, up through August 1, 2008 we made the following
payments to 2 principals of StorageSwitch: (1) semi-monthly cash payments of $12,500 (totaling $25,000 per month)
and (2) the issuance of 24,960 shares of Digitiliti common stock.

4.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following:

December
31,

2009
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2008

Computer
equipment

$

2,605,845

$

2,551,913

Furniture
and fixtures

14,511
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14,511

Total cost

2,620,356

2,566,424

Less
accumulated
depreciation

(2,175,681)

(1,461,311)
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Property and
Equipment

$

444,675

$

1,105,113

Depreciation expense totaled $714,370 and $753,803 in 2009 and 2008, respectively.

5.

Software Licenses

Software licenses consisted of the following:

December
31,

2009
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2008

Software
licenses

$

1,533,850

$

1,834,625

Less
accumulated
amortization

(820,651)
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(532,467)

Software
Licenses

$

713,199

$

1,302,158

Amortization expense totaled $510,824 and $299,356 in 2009 and 2008, respectively.

6.

Related Parties Transactions  
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At December 31, 2009 and 2008, balances due to the related parties consisted of the following:

2009

2008

---------------

----------------

Note payable to a stockholder, bearing interest at 2% above

prime rate, per annum, due on demand, unsecured

$        73,443

$       66,481

Note payable to a stockholder, bearing interest at 15%

per annum, payable monthly up to March 1, 2010

53,475                                             -
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Note payable to an officer, bearing interest at 12.25%

per annum, due on demand, unsecured

14,120

14,414

Note payable to an officer, bearing interest at 12.25%

per annum, due on demand, unsecured

7,600

6,727

------ ---------

-------- --------

Total due to related parties

$        148,638

$        87,622

====== ===

=== ======

Interest expense on these payable was $12,516 and $16,912 for 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Management and Founders Agreements:

Jonathan S. Miner and Pamela J. Miner
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Effective December 5, 2008, we issued a convertible note to Jonathan S. Miner and Pamela J. Miner, for their advance
to us of the sum of $175,000 and their agreement to advance up to an additional $75,000 (which additional sum has
been advanced to us), all to be utilized in the development of the DigiLIBE software storage product.  In conjunction
with the execution of this convertible note, the Company executed a Security Agreement providing the Miners a
collateral interest and security lien in the Company�s DigiBak vault equipment and DigiLibe software code that
collateralized all other indebtedness owed to the Miners by the Company including Company debt guaranteed by the
Miners (reflecting an aggregate of approximately $804,000). Also see Note 9.

Dan Herbeck

 Our interim CEO, Dan Herbeck, who resigned in February 2009, provided consulting services to us during 2008
through his company, Continental Technologies Solutions, LLC (�Continental�). At the time of his resignation, the
severance arrangement recognized unpaid invoices owed to Continental of $105,344, payable at a discretionary rate of
$4,000 per month commencing in April, 2009. As recognition for our delay in payment, we also granted Continental
100,000 �cashless� five year warrants to purchase 100,000 shares of our common stock at $0.35 per share.  On
November 4, 2009, we entered into a Settlement Agreement with Dan Herbeck, acting through his company,
Continental, that satisfied the outstanding balance owed of $120,172 (reflecting additional accrued interest from the
date of his resignation) in return for the issuance of 600,861shares of Digitiliti common stock. There was no gain or
loss recognized on this transaction.

M2 Capital Advisors, Inc.

On May 3, 2006, we executed a consulting agreement with M2. The duties of M2 include introducing the Company to
the financial community; researching and identifying potential business partners, executives, consultants and Board of
Director candidates; assisting with securing leases or equipment financing; and other general business consulting
services. The agreement also provided for the payment of various fees for raising capital, identifying an
acquisition/reverse merger candidate, assisting with capital lease arrangements, etc. This agreement was amended
March 2007, effective May 6, 2006.

At the time, Mark Savage, our former President and a former director, was the President and a principal stockholder of
M2. While M2 was engaged, they assisted in raising $3,504,010 of capital from the sale of our common stock and
received $350,401 in fees for these services. In addition, M2 assisted in raising $2,035,950 in 12% convertible notes
and received fees totaling $203,595.  

On or about March 23, 2009, we agreed to pay a 10% introduction fee to M2 under their current Letter Agreement
with us that had been extended into May, 2009, on any funds raised by us in a planned $1,500,000 financing through
the sale of secured and unsecured convertible notes.  
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In April 2009, we initiated a $750,000 raise through the issuance of 12% convertible notes that were secured by a
third position security lien in our DigiBAK vault system and equipment. This offering also included the issuance of an
equal number of warrants. See Note 10 for further details.  We completed this offering in October 2009. In
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conjunction with the offering, M2 received $66,500 reflecting the 10% introduction fee and were issued 5 year
warrants totaling 375,000 with an exercise price of $0.30.   The introduction fee and the fair value of the warrants
amounting to $74,424 were charged to deferred financing costs.  

Upon the closing of this convertible note offering in October 2009, we initiated an equity offering in November 2009
of our common stock that comprised �restricted securities� as that term is defined in Rule 144 of the Securities and
Exchange Commission at a price of $0.20 per share, for total aggregate proceeds up through December 31, 2009, of
$545,000 to certain �accredited investors� as that term is also defined in Rule 501.  As of April 13, 2010, we have
received additional proceeds from this equity raise of $857,879 combining for total proceeds received from this equity
raise of $1,402,879. In conjunction with specific monies raised by M2 Capital that were associated with this equity
offering, M2 received a 10% introduction fee of $43,500 through December 31, 2009 and additional 10% introduction
fees of $49,500 up through April 13, 2010, 2010. The related fees were charged to additional paid in capital as stock
issuance costs.   

In total, M2 partners earned total fees of  approximately $110,000 and $295,000 for the years ended December 31,
2009 and 2008, respectively.    

5X Partners, LLC.

In August 2007, we entered into a consulting arrangement with 5X Partners, LLC (�5X�). Under the agreement, 5X
provided services such as senior leadership, business development, sales and marketing, product packaging,
infrastructure scaling methods and other key areas of management, business assessment and strategies. Under the
arrangement, which was amended several times, we agreed to pay 5X a fixed fee of $60,484 and monthly fees of
$28,000, of which $8,000 would be deferred until reaching a financial funding goal. In addition, we agreed to issue
5X stock options to purchase 2,850,000 shares of our common stock at $0.385 per share, which vests over 24 months.

5X earned fees and received expense reimbursements of $146,295 for the year ended December 31, 2008.  These
expenses were included in balances of general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of
operations.

In October 2008, 5X principals resigned their executive positions with the Company, and on July 16, 2009, we agreed
on a settlement agreement for amounts due under the consulting arrangement whereby we issued 505,000 shares and
360,000 5-year warrants with an exercise price of $0.25 as full payment of the outstanding balance of  $100,227.   In
connection with the above arrangement, we recognized a loss on settlement of $108,187.
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Other Management and Founder Transactions

In January 2006, we entered into two leases for computer equipment, one of which expired in 2007 and one of which
expired in 2008. One of the leasing companies, Wenzel Data, Inc., is owned by Ronald G. Wenzel, a former officer
and director of Storage and a current stockholder of ours, and Brad D. Wenzel, our Chairman of the Board of
Directors until April 20, 2009. The lease payments are guaranteed by Messrs. Wenzel and Wenzel. The amount
outstanding for the capital lease obligation to Messrs. Wenzel and Wenzel was fully paid in 2009. The related interest
expense associated with these leases was $5,022 and $794 for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2009,
respectively.

7.

Notes Payable � Related Parties  

We issued a $250,000 promissory note to a stockholder dated December 15, 2005.  The note mirrors a promissory
note between the stockholder and his bank, which matured on December 15, 2009 and had an interest rate 0.5% above
the bank�s index rate (6.00% at December 31, 2009 and 2008).  In December 2009, the note was renewed to December
31, 2010. The balance of the note was $231,540 at December 31, 2009 and 2008. Interest expense was $15,218 and
$13,357 for 2009 and 2008, respectively.
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8.

Notes Payable  

In December 2007, we entered into a Software Purchase Agreement (SPA) with Exanet, Inc. The terms of the SPA
reflect the financing of $485,000 of software over 36-months at 12% interest. Commencing on January 15, 2008, we
are obligated to make minimum monthly interest only payments of $4,850 that increased to $20,000 effective October
15, 2008. The terms of the SPA include a possible $2,500 increase to the minimum monthly interest only payments
predicated on performance goals. We have the right to prepay the outstanding balance without penalty throughout the
term of the agreement.

On December 31, 2009, we entered into a settlement agreement with Exanet whereby debt balance amounting to
$405,000 was discharged in exchange for the return of excess Exanet software license. At the same time, we paid
Exanet the balance of $80,000 to reflect the purchase of active license in use at this time. As a result of the above, we
recognized a gain on the settlement of debt of $222,840 which is the difference between the value of the discharged
debt and the net book value of the software license returned to Exanet.

In June 2008, we negotiated a six-month payment plan with our primary software vendor � Asigra, Inc. Under the
terms of the arrangement, we were granted extended payment terms in exchange for the revocation of 20% discount
under net 30 payment terms. This payment plan reflected monthly payments based on a percentage of outstanding
invoices owed for software licenses and maintenance, with any remaining outstanding balance payable in December
2008. In December 2008, this payment plan was extended for another 6 months with all outstanding debt payable in
May 2009. As of December 31, 2008, outstanding balance under this payment plan is $390,365.

In July 2009, we executed a Payment and Security Agreement (the �Security Agreement�) that reflected an 8-month
payment plan that would satisfy the existing balance owed along with the inclusion of amounts to be charged over this
8-month period. This Security Agreement provided Asigra a security lien in our DigiBAK vault system. On March 6th
2010, we made the final payment called for under this Security Agreement and now own all Asigra licenses outright.

9.

Convertible Debt � Related Parties

In October 2008, we issued a $250,000 12% convertible debt to an individual. The debt can be converted into our
common stock at $0.50 per share, subject to an effective registration statement covering the underlying common stock
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that has been filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The debt is guaranteed by a stockholder of the
Company. In conjunction with this convertible debt, we issued stock warrants to purchase 150,000 shares and 100,000
shares, respectively, of Digitiliti common stock with a five year term at $0.50 per share.

In November 2008, we issued a $250,000 12% convertible debt to a stockholder. The debt can be converted into our
common stock at $0.35 per share, subject to an effective registration statement covering the underlying common stock
that has been filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.  In conjunction with this convertible debt, we
issued stock warrants to purchase 250,000 shares of Digitiliti common stock with a five year term at $0.50 per share.

Pursuant to a security agreement with the stockholder, our DigiLIBE software and our DigiBAK vaults along with
other intellectual properties serve as the collateral for the above guarantee, convertible debt and the related party note
payable.

We analyzed these two convertible debt and the warrants issued for derivative accounting consideration and
determined that derivative accounting is not applicable for these debts.

We discounted the relative fair value of warrants attached to both debts and calculated the intrinsic value of the
beneficial conversion feature of the debt. The resulting discount of $210,974 is being amortized over the life of the
debts using the effective interest method. The discount was fully amortized in 2009.
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A summary of the convertible debt � related parties as of December 31, 2009 is as follows:

Gross proceeds from the debts

$                  500,000

Less: discount on the warrants

 (120,844)

Less: beneficial conversion feature

(90,130)

Add: amortization of discount

210,974

  ------------------------

Carrying amount as of December 31, 2009

$                 500,000

 ==============

10.

Convertible Debt

A summary of the convertible debt as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 is as follows:

2009

2008

------------------------

------------------------

Gross proceeds from the debts
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$                6,250,000

$              5,500,000

Less: discount on the warrants

  (2,239,749)

(2,116,131)

Less: principal converted to common stock

  (2,607,700)

(270,000)

Less: principal payments

  (100,000)

-

Add: accrued interest converted into debt

30,000

-

Add: Amortization of discount

1,468,132

 1,035,558

Add: unamortized discount on converted debt charged to interest

378,590

 44,291

  ------------------------

  ------------------------

Subtotal

$                3,179,273

$               4,193,718

Less: current maturities

Edgar Filing: UDR, Inc. - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 167



  (1,532,771)

  (2,435,466)

  ------------------------

  ------------------------

Long-term portion of convertible debt

$                1,646,502

$               1,758,252

 ==============

 ==============

A summary of the contingent beneficial conversion feature as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 are as follows:

Contingent
beneficial
conersion
feather (BCF)
for the

$5.5 million
convertible
debt, at
measurement
date

 $1,810,424 

          Less: 
BCF charged
to interest
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expense on
converted debt

  (64,764)

Unrecognized
BCF at
December 31,
2008 

  1,745,660 

             Add:
Contingent
BCF for the
$750,000
convertible
debt,

                  at
measurement
date

Edgar Filing: UDR, Inc. - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 169



  127,085 

             Less: 
BCF charged
to interest
expense on
converted debt

  (776,725)

Unrecognized
BCF at
December 31,
2009

 $1,096,020 
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12% Convertible debt � $5.5 million Private Offering

In March 2007, we engaged M2 (see Note 6 � Related Parties Transactions) to raise up to $5.5 million from the sale of
12% convertible debt and warrants. This $5.5 million raise was closed in September 2008. Under the initial
conversion terms, the debt was convertible into common stock at $0.50 per share, subject to an effective registration
statement covering the underlying common stock that has been filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. In
addition, for each $1 invested, the investor receives one half warrant to acquire one half of a share of common stock
with a five year term at $1.50 per share (the A warrants); and one half warrant to acquire one half share of common
stock with a five year term at $2.25 per share (the B warrants) (see inducement discussion below). Each warrant
cannot be exercised during the first 6-months and one day following issuance, unless there is an effective registration
statement covering the underlying common stock that has been filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
The warrants are callable at $0.01 per warrant, if the common stock of the Company
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trades for 20 consecutive days on its principal market above $2.25 for the first one half warrant and $3.00 for the
second one half warrant, provided there is an effective registration statement covering the underlying common stock
that has been filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

In conjunction with the sale of the 12% convertible debt referenced above, M2 received a 10% introductory fee, which
totaled $523,550 pursuant to a Consulting Agreement and an officer also received a 10% introductory fee which
totaled $26,450. These introductory fees were accounted for as deferred financing cost and are being amortized using
the effective interest method over the term of the convertible debt.

Through December 31, 2008, we have issued $5,500,000 in convertible debt and 840,000 warrants at $1.00, 2,330,000
warrants at $1.50 and 2,330,000 warrants at $2.25.

We analyzed these convertible debt and the warrants issued for derivative accounting consideration and determined
that derivative accounting is not applicable for these debts.

The convertible debt was evaluated for a beneficial conversion feature, at which time it was concluded that a
contingent beneficial conversion feature existed for a substantial portion of the convertible debt. The beneficial
conversion feature was measured using the commitment-date stock price and will be recognized once the contingency
is resolved. (see further discussion below regarding induced conversion of debt below.)

In addition, the relative fair value of the warrants was measured using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model and
recorded as a debt discount, which is being amortized over the life of the debt using the effective interest method. The
total discount recorded was $2,116,131 and the unamortized balance at December 31, 2009 and 2008 was $295,580
and $1,036,282.

In November 2008, we initiated a request to all of these convertible debt holders to either extend their respective
convertible debt for another 18 months or to convert their principal and accrued interest into common stock.

In exchange for extending their convertible debt for an additional 18 months, we agreed to reduce the exercise price of
the associated warrants from $1.50 and $2.25 per share to $1.00 per share, respectively for the A and B warrants. In
addition, we agreed to extend the term of both the A and B warrants from 5 years to 6 ½ years. However, the
requirement of an effective registration was not removed in the case of extending the note.
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In exchange for converting their convertible debt into common stock, we agreed to reduce the exercise price from
$0.50 to $0.35 per share. We also agreed to reduce the exercise price of the associated warrants from the $1.50 and
$2.25 per share to $1.00 per share, respectively for the A and B warrants. In addition, we agreed to extend the term of
both the A and B warrants from 5 years to 6 ½ years. Furthermore, the requirement of an effective registration was
removed to allow conversion, which removed the contingency associated with the beneficial conversion feature. As a
result, the measured value associated with the converted debt was recognized as interest expense.  

We evaluated the extension event under the guidance for troubled debt restructuring and debt modification or
exchange of debt instruments.  Because the investors did not grant concession on these outstanding loans, the
transactions were not accounted for as troubled debt restructuring. Consequently, we evaluated these transactions to
determine if the modification was substantial and determined they were not. As a result, no gain or loss was recorded
on the date of the extension since the modification in terms is not considered significant. For the years ended
December 31, 2009 and 2009, the Company recognized warrant expense of $73,272 and $46,214, respectively,
associated with the modification of the exercise price of the warrants on the extended debt and charged the
unamortized discount to interest expense over the remaining life of the convertible debt under the new terms.

We accounted for the conversion event under the guidance on induced conversions of convertible debt and recognized
expense for 2009 and 2008 totaling $299,693 and $49,257, respectively, which is equal to the fair value of the
incremental compensation cost created by the modification of the exercise price of the warrants and the incremental
increase in the fair value of the conversion features as a result of the reduction in the conversion price. In addition, the
remaining unamortized discount on the debt converted in 2009 and 2008 of $378,590 and $44,291, respectively, was
recognized to interest expense.
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Likewise, the contingency related to the contingent beneficial conversion feature was resolved on the date of
conversion. The beneficial conversion feature calculated on the commitment date was fully recognized through
interest expense and additional paid in capital. During 2009 and 2008, $2,337,700 and $270,000, respectively, of debt
was converted and $776,725 and $64,764, respectively, of the contingent beneficial conversion feature was recognized
into interest expense. At December 31, 2009, unrecognized contingent beneficial conversion feature amounted to
$968,935.

The Company is also in default on $723,834 of convertible debt and accrued interest as of December 31, 2009.

12% Convertible Debt - $750,000 Private Offering

In April 2009, we raised $750,000 from the sale of 12% convertible debt and warrants that are secured against the
assets associated with our Pharaoh Business Fortress Storage Center, subject to certain other liens. Under the
conversion terms, the debt is convertible into common stock at $0.35 per share, subject to an effective registration
statement covering the underlying common stock that has been filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. In
addition, for each $1 invested, the investor receives one warrant to acquire one share of common stock with a five year
term at $0.50 per share. The warrants are callable at $0.01 per warrant, if the common stock of the Company trades for
20 consecutive days on its principal market above $1.50 per share, provided there is an effective registration statement
covering the underlying common stock that has been filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. In
conjunction with the sale of the 12% convertible debt referenced above, we paid M2 10% introductory fee totaling
$66,500 and issued 5 year warrants totaling 375,000 with an exercise price of $0.30.  The introductory fee and the fair
value of the warrants amounting to $74,424 were charged to deferred financing costs and are amortized using the
effective interest method over the term of the convertible debt.

We analyzed the convertible debt and the warrants issued for derivative accounting consideration and determined that
derivative accounting is not applicable for these debts.

The convertible debt was evaluated for a beneficial conversion feature at which time it was concluded that a
contingent beneficial conversion feature existed for a substantial portion of the convertible debt. The beneficial
conversion feature was measured using the commitment-date stock price to be $127,085, which will be recorded once
the contingency has been resolved. In addition, the relative fair value of the warrants were measured using the
Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model to be $123,618 and recorded as a debt discount, which is amortized over the life
of the debt using the effective interest method.  The unamortized discount as of December 31, 2009 amounted to
$97,447.
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11.

Capital Leases Obligations  

In November 2006, the Company entered into a lease for computer equipment that expired in 2008 (hereafter referred
to as Lease # 1). The present value of the monthly lease payments was capitalized using an imputed interest rate of
10%. In addition, the Company issued warrants to purchase 262,500 shares of common stock at $0.35 per warrant to
the lessor. The warrants have a seven-year term and include a cashless exercise provision. The fair value of the
warrants was $63,000 and was capitalized in the cost of assets under capital leases. The warrants were exercised
cashless in September 2007 with the issuance of 240,882 shares of common stock.

During January and February 2007, the Company entered into two 24-month leases for computer equipment
(hereinafter referred to as Lease # 2 and # 3, respectively). The present value of the monthly lease payments was
capitalized using an imputed interest rate of 10%. In addition, the Company issued warrants to purchase 45,490 shares
of common stock at $0.35 per warrant. The warrants have a seven-year term and include a cashless exercise provision.
The fair value of the warrants was $10,918 and was capitalized in the cost of assets under capital leases. The warrants
were exercised cashless in September 2007 with the issuance of 41,743 shares of common stock.  

In December 2007, the Company entered into a 24-month lease for computer equipment (hereinafter referred to as
Lease # 4). The present value of the monthly lease payments was capitalized using an imputed interest rate of 10%.
The lease payments are guaranteed by the CEO and stockholder. In addition, the Company issued warrants to
purchase 136,250 shares of common stock at $0.75 per warrant. The warrants have a seven-year term. The fair
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value of the warrants was $356,335 and was capitalized in the cost of assets under capital leases. In a subsequent lease
with this lessor, the terms of the above-mentioned warrants were revised to reflect a cashless exercise feature. These
warrants were exercised cashless on December 31, 2008 with the issuance of 136 shares of common stock.

In December 2008, the Company negotiated the consolidation of Lease 1 through 4 into a 12-month lease (hereinafter
referred to as Lease # 5) for all associated computer equipment. The present value of the monthly lease payments was
capitalized using an imputed interest rate of 10%. The amount outstanding for the capital lease obligation was $0 and
 $381,946 at December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.  

In August and September 2008, the Company entered into three 36-month leases for computer equipment with two
financial institutions. The present value of the monthly lease payments was capitalized using an imputed interest rate
of approximately 20% and 10%. The amount outstanding for the capital lease obligation was $69,862 and $100,701 at
December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Amortization of capital lease property is included in depreciation expense and was $547,464 and $640,153 in 2009
and 2008, respectively.

Assets under capital leases, included in property and equipment, consisted of the following:

December
31,

2009
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2008

Computer
equipment

$

2,140,614

$

2,140,614

Less
accumulated
depreciation

(1,535,513)
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(1,194,803)

Assets under
Capital
Leases

$

605,101

$

945,811

12.

Income Taxes

Income tax computed at the U.S. federal statutory rate reconciled to the effective tax rate consisted of the following:
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Years Ended
December 31,

2009
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2008

   Federal tax
benefit at
statutory rate

$

(1,678,948)
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(34.0

)%

$

(1,808,484

)

(34.0

)%

   Stock based
compensation

-

-

679,464
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12.8

   State
income taxes,
net of federal
tax 

         benefit

(319,395)

(6.5

)

(581,191

)

(10.9

)

   Valuation
allowance for
deferred tax

         assets
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1,107,137

22.4

1,695,701

31.9

   Other

891,206

18.1
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14,510

0.2

   Income Tax
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$

-     

-  

%

$

-     

-  

%
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The components of deferred income taxes consisted of the following:

December 31

2009

2008

Current
Deferred
Income Tax
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Assets

Vacation
accrual

$

10,404

$

11,283

Allowance for
uncollectible
accounts

65,665

34,124
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Accrued
expense

3,221

Stock based
compensation

199,528

679,464

Total  

278,818

724,871
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Noncurrent
Deferred
Income Tax
Assets

Net operating
loss
carryforward

6,280,122

3,406,037
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Noncurrent
Deferred
Income Tax
Liabilities

Depreciation

(14,086

)

(33,112

)
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Deferred rent

(4,674

)

(1,028

)

Deferred
revenue

-

(1,338

)

Total

(18,760

)

(35,478

)
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Valuation
Allowance

(6,540,180

)

(4,095,430

)

Net Deferred
Income Tax

$
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     -     

$

-     

The Company established a valuation allowance to fully offset the net deferred income tax assets due to the
uncertainty of the Company�s ability to generate the future taxable income necessary to realize those net deferred
income tax assets, considering the Company�s history of significant operating losses.  In addition, future utilization of
the available net operating loss carryforward may be limited under Internal Revenue Code Section 382 as a result of
changes in ownership that have or may result from the issuance of common stock, and from options and warrants for
the purchase of common stock.

At December 31, 2009 and 2008 respectively, the Company had net operating loss carryforward of approximately
$15,518,000 and $10,707,000, respectively, which will begin to expire in 2026.

13.

Equity

For the year ended December 31, 2008

In March 2008, the Company issued 250,000 shares of common stock in connection with the TPA with
StorageSwitch, LLC. (Note 4) These shares were valued at $375,000 based upon the quoted market price of our stock
at issuance date.

In March 2008, the Company issued 108,004 shares of common stock valued at $162,006 to settle the unpaid
compensation of $37,802 with its consultant. Consequently, a $124,204 loss on settlement was recognized.

From February to August 2008, the Company issued 219,760 shares of common stock valued at $405,686 based upon
the quoted market price of the Company�s stock on the date the services were completed for exchange of consulting
services.
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In April 2008, the Board of Directors approved the issuance of 70,000 shares of restricted stock to the consultant as a
publicity media fee. These shares were subsequently issued in August 2008 valued at $210,000 based on the quoted
stock price on August 31, 2007.

During December 2008, several convertible debt holders converted Convertible Debt in the amount of $261,660, net
of discount of $44,291, in principal and accrued interest, to common stock. Total shares issued in exchange for the
debt were 869,562.

On December 31, 2008, 136,250 units of warrants associated with capital lease #5 (Note 11) were exercised cashless
with issuance of 136,250 shares of common stock. The Company capitalized the fair value of the warrants of
$356,335 as part of the cost of the assets under capital lease.

For the year ended December 31, 2009

On various dates in 2009, sixty six convertible debt holders converted their investment in convertible debt totaling
$2,703,585, including principal and accrued interest, into common stock. Total shares issued in exchange for the debt
were 7,656,606. (See also Note 10)

In July 2009, the Company issued 505,000 shares of common stock, valued at $126,250, in connection with the
Settlement Agreement with 5X Partners (see Note 6). The Company recognized a loss of $108,187 on the settlement
of this transaction.

In the fourth quarter of 2009, in lieu of wages the Company issued 656,249 shares of fully vested common stock to the
CEO, valued at $124,323, in connection with his compensation package.

On November 4, 2009, in lieu of cash, the Company issued 600,861 shares of common stock, valued at  $120,172, as
payment of prior year consulting fees.

During the last two months of 2009, the Company sold 2,725,000 shares of common stock for cash proceeds of
$501,500, net of share issuance costs of $43,500.
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14.

Stock Options

On July 23, 2007, the Company adopted the 2007 Stock Option Plan to replace the 2006 Stock Option Plan.  The 2007
plan is substantially identical to the 2006 Plan except that 4,000,000 shares of common stock were reserved for
issuance. On April 17, 2008, the Company increased the shares reserved to 9,000,000 shares. The term of the options
is five years and the options vest over various periods.

For the year ended December 31, 2008

Options to purchase 3,900,000 shares of common stock were granted by the Company to its employees and
consultants at exercise prices ranging from $0.35 to $0.385. These options have a term of 5 years, and have vesting
dates that vary from either full or partial vesting at date of grant to full vesting at the first and second year anniversary
of the date of grant. Fair value of $4,172,205 was recorded using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Variables
used in the Black-Scholes option-pricing model for warrants issued during the year include (1) discount rate of 2.9%,
(2) expected life of 2.5 to 3.5 years (3) expected volatility of 113% and (4) zero expected dividends.

Included in the total 3,900,000 options granted were the 2,850,000 options issued to 5X Partners, LLC and 225,000
options issued to Vision to Practice, Inc.

In April 2008, the Board of Directors approved the cancellation of 525,000 unvested stock options due to termination
of an employee in March 2008.

During 2008, options to purchase 3,367,152 shares were forfeited. Stock option expense for 2008 was $1,217,738.
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For the year ended December 31, 2009

Options to purchase 1,700,000 shares of common stock were granted by the Company to its employees and
consultants at exercise prices ranging from $0.35 to $0.385. These options have a term of 5 years, and have vesting
dates that vary from either full vesting at date of grant or having a vesting period of 3 years from the date of grant. The
fair value of $429,366 was determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Variables used in the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model include (1) discount rate ranging from 1.3 to 1.4%, (2) expected life of 3.5 years
(3) expected volatility ranging from 152% to 183% and (4) zero expected dividends.

A summary of option activities for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 are as follows:

Options

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price

Outstanding at
December 31, 2007

3,441,000
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$

0.37

Granted

3,900,000

0.38

Canceled

(525,000

)

0.35

Forfeited
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(3,367,152

)

0.38

Outstanding at
December 31, 2008

3,448,848

0.37

Granted

1,700,000

0.38

Canceled
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-

-

Forfeited

(985,848

)

0.37

Outstanding at
December 31, 2009

4,163,000

0.37
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Of the total outstanding options at December 31, 2009, a total of 3,884,000 options are exercisable over a weighted
average remaining term of 3.2 years and have a weighted average exercise price of $0.37.

The weighted-average remaining life of all options outstanding at December 31, 2009 and 2008 was 3.2 years and 3.7
years, respectively. The weighted-average grant date fair value of options granted in 2009 and 2008 was $0.25 and
$1.07, respectively.

Stock option expense for the year ended December 31, 2009 amounted to $118,362.  As of December 31, 2009, there
was approximately $318,002 of unrecognized cost which is expected to be recorded through September 2012.  The
outstanding options at December 31, 2009 have an intrinsic value of zero.

15.

Stock Warrants

For the year ended December 31, 2008

In connection with a private offering, the Company issued warrants to purchase 2,300,450 shares of its common stock
to certain institutional and accredited investors. These warrants expire in 5 to 6.5 years, are exercisable at $1 to $2.25
per share immediately. These warrants are classified as equity and have a fair value of $2,935,575.

During the fourth quarter of 2008, warrants to purchase 500,000 shares of common stock were granted to two
individuals in connection with $500,000 borrowed under two convertible debts, at an exercise price range from $0.35
to $0.5. These warrants have a term of 5 years, vest immediately and have a fair value of $162,306.

The Company reached an agreement with one of its creditor and modified the terms of the outstanding warrants to
include a cashless exercise option. The Company recognized $16,290 incremental compensation costs as the result of
this modification. These warrants were exercised under the cashless option during the fourth quarter and shares were
issued by the Company.

Fair value on the warrants issued during 2008 and the incremental compensation costs were calculated using the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model.  Variables used in the Black-Scholes option-pricing model for warrants issued
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during the year include (1) discount rate range of 1.94% to 3.73%, (2) warrant life is the contract term, (3) expected
volatility of 113% and (4) zero expected dividends.
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For the year ended December 31, 2009

In connection with a private offering, the Company issued warrants to purchase 750,000 shares of its common stock to
certain institutional and accredited investors. These warrants expire in 5 years and are exercisable at $.50 per share
immediately. These warrants are classified as equity and have a fair value of $123,618.

In conjunction with the private offering referenced above, the Company issued to M2 warrants totaling 375,000 with
an exercise price of $0.30. These warrants have a term of 5 years, vest immediately and have a fair value of $74,424,
as calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Variables used in the Black-Scholes option-pricing model
include (1) discount rate of 2.19%, (2) warrant life of five years, (3) expected volatility of 176% and (4) zero expected
dividends.

During the third quarter of 2009, warrants to purchase 100,000 shares of common stock were granted to an individual
who provided loan to the Company at an exercise price of $0.20. These warrants have a term of five years and they
vest immediately. Fair value of $17,048 was calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Variables used
in the Black-Scholes option-pricing model include (1) discount rate of 1.79%, (2) warrant life of five years, (3)
expected volatility of 166% and (4) zero expected dividends.

During the third quarter of 2009, in exchange for the discharge of an approximate $100,227 balance of unpaid
compensation due a former vendor, 5X, we issued warrants to purchase 360,000 shares of common stock at an
exercise price of $0.385. These warrants have a term of five years and they vest immediately. Fair value of $82,164
was calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Variables used in the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model include (1) discount rate of 2.52%, (2) warrant life of five years, (3) expected volatility of 160% and (4) zero
expected dividends.

During the second quarter of 2009, warrants to purchase 125,000 shares of common stock were granted by the
Company to one of its convertible note holders at an exercise price of $0.50. These warrants have a term of three years
and they vest immediately. Fair value of $26,997 was calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.
Variables used in the Black-Scholes option-pricing model include (1) discount rate of 1.79%, (2) warrant life of three
years, (3) expected volatility of 146% and (4) zero expected dividends.

During 2009, warrants to purchase a total of 1,700,000 shares of common stock were granted by the Company to a
former director and certain employees with exercise prices ranging from $0.20 to 0.50. These warrants have terms
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ranging from three to five years.  Of the total, 950,000 warrants vest immediately while 750,000 warrants will vest
based on achievement of certain performance conditions.  The fair value of these warrants amounted to $263,733 and
was calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Variables used in the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model include (1) discount rate ranging from 1.79% to 2.31% (2) warrant life of three to five years, (3) expected
volatility ranging from 142% to 173% and (4) zero expected dividends.

A summary of warrant activities for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 are as follows:

Warrants

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price

Outstanding at
December 31, 2007

3,536,148

$

1.75
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    Granted

2,800,450

1.51

    Exercised

(136,250)

0.75

Outstanding at
December 31, 2008

6,200,348
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1.03

    Granted

3,410,000

0.39

    Forfeited

(100,000)

1.88

Outstanding at
December 31, 2009

9,510,348
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0.79

Except for the 750,000 warrants that are subject to certain performance conditions, all warrants are fully vested and
exercisable at December 31, 2009.
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The weighted-average remaining contractual life of warrants outstanding at December 31, 2009 and 2008 was 4.22
years and 4 years, respectively. The weighted-average grant date fair value of warrants granted in 2009 and 2008 was
$0.20 and $1.11, respectively.

16.

Commitments and Contingencies

Because some of our convertible note holders have not accepted our Modification Proposal, we are presently in arrears
in principal and accrued interest payments in an aggregate total of $723,834 as of December 31, 2009: and an
aggregate total of $975,722 as of March 31, 2010. Although we are continuing to discuss payment and/or conversion
or extension of these notes with note holders, these outstanding obligations pose a risk to our ongoing operations.

From time to time, Digitiliti may be subject to routine litigation, claims, or disputes in the ordinary course of business.
In the opinion of management; no pending or known threatened claims, actions or proceedings against Digitiliti are
expected to have a material adverse effect on Digitiliti�s consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash
flows. Digitiliti cannot predict with certainty, however, the outcome or effect of any of the litigation or investigatory
matters specifically described above or any other pending litigation or claims. There can be no assurance as to the
ultimate outcome of these lawsuits and investigations.

Operating leases

The Company�s previous office space lease in Minneapolis expires in October 2010.  The monthly base rentals
increased over the term of the lease from $5,576 for 2008 up to $5,938 during 2009. The Company recorded deferred
rent in prior periods to equalize the monthly payments during the lease term. This lease was guaranteed by certain
officers and stockholders of the Company. This office space was vacated in August 2007. In March 2008, the
Company entered into a sublease agreement which expires in October 2010 with monthly rental income that range
from $3,607 to $3,865.  In December 2008, the subtenant filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy and was 2 months
delinquent at that time. As a result of the subtenant�s bankruptcy, a new subtenant assumed this sublease under terms
reflecting a monthly sublease payment of $3,239 effective August 1, 2009 through October 31, 2010.

In April 2007, the Company entered into another lease for office space. The lease expires December 2011 and requires
monthly payments that range from $4,450 to $6,450 through December 2008.  Thereafter, the rent will be consistent
with other similar commercial properties. The Company is recording deferred rent to equalize the monthly payments
during the lease term. To date, our base rent of $6,450 has not changed.
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For 2009, rent expense was 123,160, net of $45,349 sublease rental income. For 2008, rent expense was $121,757, net
of $25,250 sublease rental income.

The table below reflects the Company�s commitments as they come due over the next five years.

Year

Year

Year

Year

Year

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

Capital
lease

$45,819

$24,043

$0

$0
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$0

Operating
leases*

$78,502

$77,400

$0

$0

$0

Convertible
debt and
accrued
interest

$2,135,147

$2,169,252

$0

$0

$0

Related
party debt

$380,178

$0

$0

$0

$0

Related
party
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convertible
debt

$500,000

$0

$0

$0

$0

Other Debt

$286,831

$0

$0

$0

$0

$3,426,477

$2,270,695

$0

$0

$0

* Reflects operating leases net of the sublease income.

17.

Major Customers and Vendors
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The Company earned 15% percent of its revenues from one customer for the year ended December 31, 2009.  
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The Company primarily deals with four major vendors which account for approximately 50% of the cost of revenues
for the year ended December 31, 2009.

18.

Subsequent Events

On February 4, 2010, the Company entered into a Settlement Agreement with nuArch, LLC, resolving a complaint
alleging breach of contract for services invoiced at approximately $140,000 for services performed during the fourth
quarter of 2008 and the first quarter of 2009. This Settlement Agreement reflected an agreed upon payment of $75,000
to paid over a 9-month period starting on March 22, 2010. Accordingly, the Company reduced the related payable
based on the agreed settlement amount.  

On January 18, 2010, the Company entered into a Confidential Settlement Agreement with a company that was
formed by two former employees.  Our complaint against these two former employees and their new company alleged
breach of contract, breach of fiduciary duties and breach of loyalty. An out-of-court settlement was reached reflecting
monetary compensation to be paid to us, along with a non-compete period placed against these two former employees
and their company.

In conjunction with the Company�s $1.5M equity raise, as of April 13, 2010, the Company raised an additional
$857,897 of capital through the issuance of 4,289,395 shares of our common stock at $.20 per share.  Under this raise,
an additional 127,500 common shares were issued for services and 64,395 shares were issued to settle an outstanding
payable of $12,879 due to an officer of the Company.

In March of 2010, the Company satisfied its obligations under the payment plan with its primary software vendor,
Asigra, Inc., as discussed in the Plan of Operations above.

In March 2010, the Company satisfied its obligations under a short term loan provided by one of its stockholders.

As of April 13, 2010, we have reached confidential settlements with three convertible note holders reflecting
repayment of their convertible notes totaling $53,933, on a discounted basis, involving payment plans and the
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surrender of all warrants associated with these notes.
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ITEM 9: CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

There have been no disagreements between us and our auditors during our two most recent fiscal years, whether
resolved or not resolved, on any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure or auditing
scope or procedure which, if not resolved, would have caused our auditors to make reference to the subject matter of
the disagreement in connection with their reports.

The reports of our auditors did not contain any adverse opinion or disclaimer of opinion, and with the exception of a
standard �going concern� qualification because we have suffered recurring losses from operations and have a substantial
stockholders� deficit and were not qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope or accounting principles.

During our two most recent fiscal years, MaloneBailey, LLP has not advised us that any of the following exists or is
applicable:

(1)

That the internal controls necessary for us to develop reliable financial statements do not exist, that information has
come to their attention that has lead them to no longer be able to rely on our management�s representations, or that has
made them unwilling to be associated with the financial statements prepared by management;

(2)

That we need to expand significantly the scope of our audit, or that information has come to their attention that if
further investigated may materially impact the fairness or reliability of a previously issued audit report or the
underlying financial statements or any other financial presentation, or cause them to be unwilling to rely on our
management�s representations or be associated with our financial statements for the foregoing reasons or any other
reason; or

(3)

That they have advised us that information has come to their attention that they have concluded materially impacts the
fairness or reliability of either a previously issued audit report or the underlying financial statements for the foregoing
reasons or any other reason.
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During our two most recent fiscal years and since then, we have not consulted MaloneBailey, LLP regarding the
application of accounting principles to a specified transaction, either completed or proposed; or the type of audit
opinion that might be rendered on our financial statements or any other financial presentation whatsoever.

ITEM 9A(T):  CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed
in our Securities and Exchange Commission reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time
periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission's rules and forms. Our disclosure controls and
procedures are also designed to accumulate and communicate information to our management, including our Chief
Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow for timely decisions regarding required
disclosure. In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, we recognize that any controls and
procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired
control objectives. Accordingly, management must apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of
possible controls and procedures.

Prior to December 31, 2009, we carried out an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of our
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design
and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Rule 13a-15(b) under the Exchange Act. Based on
their review of our disclosure controls and procedures, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer
have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are not effective in providing reasonable assurance that
information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file under the Exchange Act were recorded, processed,
summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission�s rules,
regulations and forms. In particular, we have identified the following material weakness in our disclosure controls:
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(a)    We did not maintain sufficient personnel with an appropriate level of technical accounting knowledge,
experience, and training in the application of generally accepted accounting principles commensurate with our
complexity and our financial accounting and reporting requirements. We have limited experience in the areas of
financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures. As a result, there is a lack of monitoring of the financial
reporting process and there is a reasonable possibility that material misstatements of the consolidated financial
statements, including disclosures, will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis; and

(b)    There is a lack of sufficient accounting staff which results in a lack of segregation of duties necessary for a good
system of internal control. This control deficiency, which is pervasive in nature, results in a reasonable possibility that
material misstatements of the financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

In response to these material weaknesses, management continues to address these issues with (1) the establishment of
an Audit Committee effective April 2009, (2) conversion to a new accounting software system effective April, 2010
that should provide for a more efficient and timely reporting and (3) financial disclosures the hiring or three more
administrative and accounting personnel during 2009 that should provide for the required segregation of duties.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting.
Our internal control system is intended to provide reasonable assurance to our management and board of directors
regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published financial statements and that we have controls and
procedures designed to ensure that the information required to be disclosed by us in our reports that we will be
required to file under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal
executive and our principal financial officers or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely
decisions regarding financial disclosure.

Management�s current assessment of the effectiveness of our internal controls is based principally on our financial
reporting as of December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, and the quarterly periods ended September 30, June 30, and
March of 2009 and 2008.  In making our assessment of internal control over financial reporting, management used the
criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (�COSO�) in Internal
Control � Integrated Framework.

For the periods referenced above, management�s assessment identified material weaknesses in our internal control over
financial reporting. These material weaknesses include lack of segregation of duties, lack of adequate documentation
of our system of internal control, deficiencies in our information technology systems, limited capability to interpret

Edgar Filing: UDR, Inc. - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 217



and apply accounting principles generally accepted in the United States and lack of formal accounting policies and
procedures and related documentation.

Management�s efforts to resolve these internal control weaknesses started with the hiring of a full-time Controller on
October 1, 2007. In April 2008, our Board of Directors approved this person�s promotion to Chief Financial Officer.
Beginning in October 2007, management prepared a written review of every facet of our information processing
system, like cash disbursements, sales and billing, cash receipts and other procedures. We continue to evaluate and
address these weaknesses to ensure adherence to written policy, completeness of reporting, segregation of
incompatible duties and compliance with generally accepted accounting principles; and we intend to continue to
monitor and evaluate these and other factors affecting our internal controls.

It is our management�s intent to correct all identified material deficiencies in our internal controls as reported in
previous periods. Until such time, our internal control over financial reporting may be subject to additional material
weaknesses and deficiencies that we have not yet identified. Management has determined that these significant
deficiencies, in the aggregate, constitute material weaknesses in the design and operation of our internal controls in
effect prior to December 31, 2008, and 2007. We continue to address and evaluate these issues.

Our former auditors have advised us of certain other material weaknesses and significant deficiencies in our internal
controls in connection with auditing our consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2007,
including,  in summary: (i) lack of accounting expertise, with recommended additional training for our CFO; (ii)
issues regarding reimbursement of unsubstantiated expenses; (iii) segregation of duties of accounting functions among
various
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personnel; (iv) segregation of cash distribution responsibilities; (v) establishment of initial control over cash receipts;
(vi) material weaknesses on preparation of our consolidated financial statements; and (vii) the establishment of an
audit committee. We are also addressing these concerns.

As indicated above, in response to these material weaknesses, management continues to address these issues with (1)
the establishment of an Audit Committee effective April 2009, (2) conversion to a new accounting software system
effective April, 2010 that should provide for a more efficient and timely reporting and (3) financial disclosures the
hiring or three more administrative and accounting personnel during 2009 that should provide for the required
segregation of duties.

Changes in internal control over financial reporting

Except as indicated in the preceding paragraph about management�s evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures,
our management, with the participation of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, has concluded there
were no significant changes in our internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during our last fiscal quarter
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B:  OTHER INFORMATION

Settlement of Former Employee Claim

On January 8, 2009, we entered into an out-of-court settlement with a former employee who sought recovery of
unpaid commissions and unused vacation compensation totaling $44,000. A settlement was reached requiring
incremental payments over a four month period ending April 10, 2009; and all payments have been made.

New Related Party Lease

In February 2009, we entered into a lease with a leasing company owned by related parties, including Brad D.
Wenzel, who recently resigned as our Chief Technical Officer and a director, and Jonathan S. Miner, a director. The
lease payments are guaranteed by Mr. Wenzel and Mr. Miner. We were unable to lease the equipment covered by this
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lease directly, so COR Equipment Financing, which is owned by Mr. Wenzel and his father, Ronald G. Wenzel, and
Mr. Miner, leased the equipment by financing a bank loan in the amount of $10,000 that each had to personally
guarantee.  The outstanding lease obligation to related parties is $4,943 as of December 31, 2009; and the terms were
no less favorable than could have been obtained from non-affiliated parties.  See Part III, Item 13.

Severance Package with Former Board Member and Acting CEO

On February 10, 2009, we accepted the resignation of Dan Herbeck, acting through his company, Continental
Technologies Solutions, LLC (�Continental�), as interim CEO and one of our Board members. The severance
arrangement recognized unpaid invoices owed Continental of $105,344 for services provided through 2008, payable at
a discretionary rate of $4,000 per month commencing in April, 2009. As recognition for our delay in payment, we also
granted Continental 100,000 �cashless� five year warrants to purchase 100,000 shares of our common stock at $0.35 per
share. On November 4, 2009, we entered into a Settlement Agreement with Dan Herbeck, acting through his
company, Continental, that satisfied the outstanding balance owed of $120,172 (reflecting additional accrued interest
from the date of his resignation) in return for the issuance of 600,861shares of Digitiliti common stock.

Vendor Settlement Agreement

On March 19, 2009, we executed a Settlement Agreement with a former vendor seeking recovery of $24,000 of
unpaid invoices.  We disputed this claim, and an out-of-court settlement was reached requiring a total reimbursement
of $13,000 payable in $3,000 monthly installment commencing April 10, 2009, and continuing thereafter until paid in
full.  We have paid the April installment on this obligation.

Planned Secured and Unsecured Funding

On or about March 23, 2009, we agreed to pay a 10% introduction fee to M2 Capital Advisors, Inc. (�M2), under their
current Letter Agreement with us, on any funds raised by us in a planned $1,500,000 financing through the sale of
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secured and unsecured convertible notes.   Beginning in April 2009 and ending in October 2009, we made an offer
and sale of these convertible notes following any introductions by M2; and purchasers of this secured portion of this
planned convertible note offering were granted a third position security interest in our vault, behind the security
interests of the Miners and Data Sales in our vault that is discussed above under the headings �Issuance of Convertible
Note, Security Agreement and Confession of Judgment in the Event of Default� and �Master Lease Revision and
Restructuring.�  This $750,000 in funding provided the necessary capital to continue our current business operations
throughout that time with approximately $275,000 of this amount paid to current vendors, based upon discussed
arrangements.  Further information regarding M2 and its prior relationships with us and its principal, Mark Savage,
our former President and a former director, is discussed under the heading �M2 Capital Advisors, Inc.� in Part III, Item
13 and in Note 6 of our consolidated financial statements contained in Part II, Item 8.

Brad D. Wenzel

On April 20, 2009, Brad D. Wenzel, our Chief Technical Officer, resigned from this position and as a member of our
Board of Directors.   Mr. Wenzel resigned to pursue new business opportunities in related, non-competing areas of
mutual interest.  The terms and conditions of a mutual Confidential Separation and Release Agreement include items
such as severance, non-compete and non-solicitation and an assignment of any claims of intellectual property rights of
Mr. Wenzel to us.  For additional information, see our 8-K Current Report dated April 20, 2009, which was filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 24, 2009.

Benno  G. Sand

On April 13, 2009, Benno G. Sand resigned as one of our directors.  There were no disagreements between Mr. Sand
and us regarding his resignation; however, he was re-elected as a director in September, 2010.

PART III

ITEM 10:  DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Identification of Directors and Executive Officers
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The following table sets forth the names of all of our current directors and executive officers. These persons will serve
until the next annual meeting of the stockholders or until their successors are elected or appointed and qualified, or
their prior resignation or termination.

Name

Positions Held

Date of Election or
Designation

Storage/Digitiliti

Date of Termination or
Resignation

Roy A. Bauer

President, CEO

Chairman of the Board

02/09

12/08

*

Daniel J. Herbeck

President, CEO

09/08

02/09

Brad D. Wenzel

Director

10/03

04/09

Pamela J. Miner

Director
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04/06

7/09

Jonathan S. Miner

Director

11/05

7/09

William McDonald

CFO

04/08

*

Benno G. Sand

Director

10/08

4/09

Benno G. Sand

Director

9/09

*

Karen Gilles Larson

Director

5/09

*

Kedar R. Belhe

Director

5/09

*
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R. M. Richenbach

Director

9/09

*

*

These persons presently serve in the capacities indicated.   

Background and Business Experience, Roy A. Bauer.   Mr. Bauer is 63 years of age.  From January of 2007 to
February, 2009, Mr. Bauer was the CEO of Key Teknowledgy, a management consulting firm based in Wisconsin.
 This
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corporation specializes in strategy, business transformation and management development services for international
clients.  From May of 2001 to January of 2007, Mr. Bauer held positions of Vice President and General Manager,
Rochester Pemstar manufacturing Site; Executive Vice President, Pemstar United States Operations; Executive Vice
President, WW Operations; Executive Vice President, Chief Operating Officer and ultimately, President and Chief
Operating Officer of Pemstar Corporation, a WW contract manufacturing and product development company
specializing in precision electro-mechanical devices, optical devices and computer systems.  Prior to that time, Mr.
Bauer worked for IBM for 24 year and held various positions up to the executive level in both product development
and manufacturing.  

William McDonald, CFO.  Mr. McDonald is 46 years old. Mr. McDonald joined Storage in July of 2007.  He has
over 20 years experience in the public accounting and finance arena.  He worked in public accounting for 11 years
before assuming the CFO position for Kath fuel Oil Co. (with over $225 million in annual sales).  He holds a CPA
certificate (currently inactive status), as well as a J.D. from William Mitchell College of Law.  He is a licensed
attorney in the State of Minnesota.  Prior to joining Digitiliti, Mr. McDonald was Vice President of Commercial
Lending at North Star Bank for three years.  He also graduated from Augsburg College with a B.A. in Accounting and
Finance.

Benno G. Sand, Director.  Mr. Sand is 54 years of age.  He has served as Executive Vice President, Business
Development and Investor Relations of FSI International, Inc. (�FSI�) since January 2000.  FSI is a global supplier of
surface conditioning equipment and technology to the world�s leading integrated circuit (IC) and microelectronics
manufacturers. He also served as Executive Vice President of FSI since January, 1992, and Secretary since March.
2002.  Mr. Sand also served as Chief Administrative Officer of FSI from January, 1998, to December, 1999, as Chief
Financial Officer from October, 1990, to January, 1998, and as Vice President of Finance from October, 1987, to
January, 1992.  Mr. Sand is a director of various FSI-owned United States and foreign subsidiaries including Sajan,
Inc. On September 9, 2009, Mr. Sand was nominated Chairman of our Audit Committee, replacing Karen G. Larson,
who had held that position from May 14, 2009, through September 9, 2009.

Karen G. Larson.  Ms. Larson joined our Board of Directors on May 14, 2009 and was also elected Chairman of the
Audit Committee. On September 9, 2009, Ms. Larson relinquished her position as Chairman of the Audit Committee,
but currently remains a member of that committee. Also on September 9, 2009, Ms. Larson was elected Chairman of
the Governance and Nominating Committee. Ms. Larson retired in 2007, after nearly 10 years as the President and
Chief Executive Officer of Synovis Life Technologies, a publicly held medical device company.  Ms Larson joined
Synovis (at the time called Bio-Vascular, Inc.) in 1989 as its director of finance and administration.  She was
promoted to the positions of Vice President of Finance, Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Secretary.  Ms. Larson
filled those capacities until July of 1997, when she was named President and Chief Executive Officer of Synovis.  In
August of 1997, Ms. Larson was appointed to Synovis Board of Directors.  She continues to serve as a Director of
Synovis Life Technologies.  During her tenure at Synovis, Ms. Larson developed and executed a growth and
diversification strategy for the company which increased revenue from $9.7M to $58M within five years.  She built
and mentored a strong executive team resulting in 24 quarters of uninterrupted revenue growth.  Ms. Larson moved
the Synovis stock listing from �over the counter� to NASDAQ.  Prior to joining Synovis, Ms. Larson was the Controller
at VEE Corporation; prior to that she was an accountant with the firm of McGladrey, Hendrickson and Pullen (now
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called RSM McGladrey).  She earned a Bachelor of Arts Degree in Economics with a minor in Chemistry from the
University of Minnesota.  Ms. Larson is 67 years of age.  

Kedar R. Belhe.  Kedar Belhe joined our Board of Directors in May, 2009. Mr. Belhe was also appointed to our
Compensation Committee. Mr. Belhe was Senior Director of Business Development at St. Jude Medical, AF Division,
from 2004 to 2007 and again at the CV Division from 2007 to 2008.  St. Jude Medical is a $5 billion global medical
device company with over 20 operations and manufacturing facilities worldwide. At the CV Division, Mr. Belhe was
responsible for mergers and acquisitions and technology licensing transactions. The division completed $260M of
acquisitions in 2008.  At the AF Division, he was responsible for technology strategy planning of the newly created
division.  He led several initiatives of technology integration within the acquired businesses, as well as technology
partnerships with major external companies.  Mr. Belhe was Senior Director of Technology Development at St. Jude�s
Daig Division from 1999 to 2004.  Mr. Belhe is currently founder and President of Metamodix, a medical devise
startup company focused on metabolic disorders.  He has strong functional expertise in technical, financial and
strategic assessment of high-technology value opportunities.  He earned a Bachelor of Science degree in Chemical
Engineering from the University of Bombay, India and a PhD in Chemical Engineering from Washington University
in St. Louis.  He also earned a Master of Business Administration from Washington University in St. Louis.  Mr.
Belhe is 47 years old.
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Rick M. Rickenbach.  Mr. Rickenbach has extensive executive experience managing businesses, start-up to large,
involved in technology products and services with a demonstrated track record in both growth and turn-around
business situations.  His background includes business strategy, optimizing operations and all aspects of marketing.
 He is an experienced member of Boards of Directors involved with start-up business, leading an IPO process,
international operations, strategic partnering and merger and acquisition activity.  Mr. Rickenbach currently serves as
a member of the Board of Directors for Cyber Security Technologies, which develops and markets software that
detects illegal use of desktop computer networks. In addition, he is actively involved with family business operations,
MLR Ranch, a cattle ranching operation. Until January 2009, he served as Chairman of the Board of Directors for
Comtrol Corporation, which designs, manufactures and markets a wide range of connectivity products.  Mr.
Rickenbach served as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Applied Technology Consultants (ATC), an emerging
Learning Management Systems software developer.  In 2005, ATC merged with Compendium Corporation, and he
served as a member of the Board of Directors of the combined companies.  He also led the Corporate Business
Development for Fourth Shift Corporation, an ERP software company.  Mr. Rickenbach was Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of Government Technology Services, Inc. (GTSI), Chantilly, Virginia. GTSI is a personal computer
marketing company focused in the Government sector. Prior to the tenure at GTSI, he held several executive and
management positions with Control Data Corporation.  He is 69 years of age.

Significant Employees

Ken Peters, Executive VP, Mr. Peters brings over 20 years of sales and marketing expertise in the Security,
Configuration Management, Business Intelligence and Storage Management markets. Previously, Mr. Peters has held
executive positions with New Boundary Technologies, Centerfield Technology, Software Moguls(EMC) and
ShowCase Corporation (SPSS). Mr. Peters has an exceptional track record of success building worldwide
sales/marketing organizations and channels for high-growth and profitability. Mr. Peters holds a degree in
Organizational Communications and Public Relations from the University of Wisconsin-Eau Claire.  Mr. Peter is 45
years of age.

Rodd Johnson, Product Development.  Mr. Johnson�s experience includes architecting and implementing a
world-wide identity intelligence system for AT&T, architecting a super-computer based filtration modeling
application for Donalson Corporation and developing custom identity databases for a number of countries.  Mr.
Johnson has a wide-ranging career spanning the insurance, health care, multi-national technology production,
manufacturing, government, security, credit card and factory automation arenas.  He earned a double major in
Computer Science and Business Administration from Mankato State University.  Mr. Johnson is 44 years old.

Family Relationships

There are no family relationships between our directors and executive officers.
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Directorships Held in Other Reporting Companies

Karen Gilles Larson serves on the Board of Directors of Synovis Life Technologies; and Benno G. Sand is a director
of FSI International, Inc.

.

Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings

During the past 10 years, to our knowledge, none of our present or former directors, executive officers or persons
nominated to become directors or executive officers has been the subject of any of the following:

 (1) A petition under the federal bankruptcy laws or any state insolvency law was filed by or against, or a receiver,
fiscal agent or similar officer was appointed by a court for the business or property of such person, or any partnership
in which he was a general partner at or within two (2) years before the time of such filing, or any corporation or
business association of which he was an executive officer at or within two (2) years before the time of such filing;

(2) Such person was convicted in a criminal proceeding or is a named subject of a pending criminal proceeding
(excluding traffic violations and other minor offenses);
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(3) Such person was the subject of any order, judgment, or decree, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated,
of any court of competent jurisdiction, permanently or temporarily enjoining him or her from, or otherwise limiting,
the following activities:

(i) Acting as a futures commission merchant, introducing broker, commodity trading advisor, commodity pool
operator, floor broker, leverage transaction merchant, any other person regulated by the Commodity Futures Trading
Commission, or an associated person of any of the foregoing, or as an investment adviser, underwriter, broker or
dealer in securities, or as an affiliated person, director or employee of any investment company, bank, savings and
loan association or insurance company, or engaging in or continuing any conduct or practice in connection with such
activity;

(ii) Engaging in any type of business practice; or

(iii) Engaging in any activity in connection with the purchase or sale of any security or commodity or in connection
with any violation of Federal or State securities laws or Federal commodities laws;

(4) Such person was the subject of any order, judgment or decree, not subsequently reversed,

suspended or vacated, of any Federal or State authority barring, suspending or otherwise limiting for more than sixty
(60) days the right of such person to engage in any activity described in paragraph (f)(3)(i) of this section, or to be
associated with persons engaged in any such activity;

(5) Such person was found by a court of competent jurisdiction in a civil action or by the SEC to have violated any
federal or state securities law, and the judgment in such civil action or finding by the SEC has not been subsequently
reversed, suspended, or vacated;

(6) Such person was found by a court of competent jurisdiction in a civil action or by the Commodity Futures Trading
Commission to have violated any Federal commodities law, and the judgment in such civil action or finding by the
Commodity Futures Trading Commission has not been subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated;

(7) Such person was the subject of, or a party to, any federal or state judicial or administrative order, judgment,
decree, or finding, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, relating to an alleged violation of:
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(i) Any federal or state securities or commodities law or regulation; or

(ii) Any law or regulation respecting financial institutions or insurance companies including, but not limited to, a
temporary or permanent injunction, order of disgorgement or restitution, civil money penalty or temporary or
permanent cease-and-desist order, or removal or prohibition order; or

(iii) Any law or regulation prohibiting mail or wire fraud or fraud in connection with any business entity; or

(8) Such person was the subject of, or a party to, any sanction or order, not subsequently reversed, suspended or
vacated, of any self-regulatory organization (as defined in Section 3(a)(26) of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C.
78c(a)(26))), any registered entity (as defined in Section 1(a)(29) of the Commodity Exchange Act (7 U.S.C.
1(a)(29))), or any equivalent exchange, association, entity or organization that has disciplinary authority over its
members or persons associated with a member.

Promoters and control person.

See the heading �Transactions with Related Persons� below of Part III, Item 13.

Compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act

Our shares of common stock are registered under the Exchange Act, and therefore the officers, directors and holders
of more than 10% of our outstanding shares are subject to the provisions of Section 16(a), which requires them to file
with the Securities and Exchange Commission initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in ownership of
common
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stock and our other equity securities. Officers, directors and greater than 10% beneficial owners are required by
Securities and Exchange Commission regulations to furnish us with copies of all Section 16(a) reports they file.
 Based solely upon review of the copies of such forms furnished to us during the year ended December 31, 2009, the
following were filed timely or were filed late, as indicated below:

Name

Type

Filed

Due Date

Pamela J.
Miner

Form 4

12-Feb-09

    08-Feb-09

Benno G.
Sand

Form 3

18-Feb-09

    10-Sept-09

Roy A.
Bauer

Form 3

18-Feb-09

    23-Oct-09

Jonathan S.
Miner

Form 4
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18-Feb-09

    08-Feb-09

William
McDonals

Form 3

23-July-08

    April-08

William
McDonald

Form 4

18-Feb-10

    15-Feb-10

Karen Giles
Larson

Form 3

20-Aug-09

    14-May-09

Kedar R.
Belhe

*

*

    14-May-09

R. M.
Richenback

Form 3

2-Nov-09

    10-Sept-09

*     Will be filed directly.
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Code of Ethics

We adopted a Code of Ethics for our principal executive and financial officers on or about April 14, 2009. Our Code
of Ethics was filed as Exhibit 14 to our 10-K Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2008, in Part IV, Item
15.

Corporate Governance

Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee

We have established a Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee and our Charter outlining our procedures is
filed was filed as an Exhibit to our 8-K Current Report dated December 16, 2008 and filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on December 22, 2008.  See Part IV, Item 15. Our current members of the Nominating
Committee are: Karen G. Larson, Chairwoman; and Roy A. Bauer, Rick M. Rickenbach and Benno G. Sand,
members.

We will disclose any change to our procedures in our corporate governance and the recommending of nominees to our
Board of Directors with an 8-K Current Report.

Audit Committee

We have also established an Audit Committee and our Charter outlining our procedures was filed as an Exhibit to our
8-K Current Report dated December 16, 2008 and filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December
22, 2008. See Part IV, Item 15.  Our current members of the Audit Committee are Benno G. Sand, Chairman; and
Kedar R. Belhe and Karen G. Larson, members.  Although not required to have an independent financial expert on our
Audit Committee by reason of being a smaller reporting company, we believe that Mr. Sand and Ms. Larson both
qualify as �audit committee financial experts,� based upon their prior experience and education, which is outlined in
their respected resumes in this Part III, Item 10, above.

We will disclose any change to our procedures in recommending nominees to our Audit Committee with an 8-K
Current Report.
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Compensation Committee

We also established a Compensation Committee and our Charter outlining our procedures was filed as an Exhibit to
our 8-K Current Report dated December 16, 2008 and filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
December 22, 2008. See Part IV, Item 15.  Our current members of the Compensation Committee are Kedar R. Behle,
Chairwoman; and Karen G. Larson and Rick M. Rickenbach, members.
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We will disclose any change to our procedures in recommending nominees to our Compensation Committee with an
8-K Current Report.

ITEM 11:  EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

All Compensation

The following table sets forth the aggregate compensation paid by us for services rendered during the periods and in
the capacities indicated:

Summary Compensation Table

Name and
Principal
Position

(a)

Year or

Period

(b)

Salary

($)
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(c)

Bonus

($)

(d)

Stock Awards

($)

(e)

Option
Awards

(f)

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan
Compensation

($)

(g)

Nonqualified
 Deferred
Compensation

($)

(h)

All Other
Compensation

($)
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(i)

Total

Earnings

($)

(j)

Roy A. Bauer

12/31/09

12/31/08

131,250 (2)

0

0

0

0

0

500,000 (2)

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

131,250

0
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Dan Herbeck,
Continental
Technology
Solutions, Inc,

12/31/09

12/31/08

34,623

104,868

0

0

0

0

100,000

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

34,623

104,868

Pamela J.
Miner,
Director

12/31/09

12/31/08

0
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0

0

0

0

0

100,000

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Jonathan S.
Miner,

Director

12/31/09
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12/31/08

0

0

0

0

0

0

100,000

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Brad D.
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Wenzel

CEO &

Director

12/31/09

12/31/08

77,118

231,230

0

0

0

0

300,000

1,500,00

0

0

0

0

0

0

77,118

231,230

William
McDonald,
CFO

12/31/09

12/31/08

84,977
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93,091

0

0

0

0

0

150,000

0

0

0

0

12,879 (1)

3,850 (1)

97,856

96,941

Karen G.
Larson

12/31/09

0

0

0

225,000

0

0

0

0
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Benno G. Sand

12/31/09

0

0

0

225,000

0

0

0

0

Kedar R.
Behle

12/31/09

0

0

0

225,000

0

0

0

0

Rick M.

Rickenbach

12/31/09

0

0
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0

225,000

0

0

0

0

(1)

During the two year period for 2009 and 2008, we paid McDonald Professional Services $12,879 and  $3,850,
respectively.  McDonald Professional Services is owned by William McDonald, and the amounts paid represent fees
paid for professional services rendered during those years.
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(2)

During 2009, our Board of Directors approved an annual salary of $175,000 for Roy A. Bauer, along with the issuance
of 500,000 warrants based on successfully achieved performance goals.

Outstanding Equity Awards

Outstanding Equity Awards Table At Year-End

Option
Awards

Stock Awards

Name

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options (#)
Exercisable

Number of
Securities
underlying
Unexercised
Options (#)
Unexercisable

Equity
Incentive Plan
Awards
Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Unearned
Options (#)
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Option
Exercise Price

($)

Option
Expiration
Date

Number of
Shares or
Units of Stock
That Have Not
Vested (#)

Market Value
of Shares or
Units of Stock
That Have Not
Vested

($)

Equity
Incentive Plan
Awards:
Number of
Unearned
Shares, Vested
Units or Other
Rights That
Have Not
Vested (#)

Equity
Incentive Plan
Awards:
Market or
Payout Value
of Unearned
Shares, Units
or Other
Rights That
Have Not
Vested ($)

(a)

(b)

(c)
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(d)

(e)

(f)

(g)

(h)

(i)

(j)

Roy A. Bauer

100,000
(vested)

$0.385

2/6/2015

Kedar R.
Behle

75,000
 (vested)

$0.385

5/14/2015
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Karen G.
Larson

75,000
(vested)

$0.385

5/14/2015

Compensation of Directors
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Director Compensation

All Directors

Fees Earned or
Paid in Cash
($)

Stock Awards
($)

Option
Awards ($)

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan
Compensation
($)

Nonqualified
Deferred
Compensation
Earnings ($)

All Other
Compensation
($)

Total ($)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(g)

(h)

All Directors
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None

None

None

None

None

None

None

Roy A. Bauer

225,000

Kedar R.
Behle

225,000

Karen G.
Larson

Edgar Filing: UDR, Inc. - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 250



225,000

Rick M.
Rickenbach

225,000

Benno G. Sand

225,000

ITEM 12:  SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
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Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners

To the knowledge of management, no person owns more than five percent (5%) of our common stock as of the date of
this Annual Report, respectively based upon 42,702,003 shares being outstanding as of April 14, 2010.
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Security Ownership of Management

The following table sets forth the share holdings of management as of the date of this Annual Report, based upon
42,702,003 shares being outstanding as of April 14, 2010:

Ownership of Officers and Directors

Title of Class

Name and Address of
Beneficial Owner

Amount and Nature of
Beneficial Owner

Percent of Class (1)

Common Stock

Common Stock

Roy A. Bauer

972,909(2)

  2.27%

Common Stock

William McDonald

364,395
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  Less than 1%

Common Stock

Karen Gilles Larson

75,000(3)

  Less than 1%

Common Stock

Kedar R. Belhe

885,714(4)

  2.07%

All Directors and Officers
as a group

2,298,018(5)

  5.38%

(1)  Excludes shares of our common stock underlying outstanding convertible securities, but includes all shares that
can be acquired by any of the foregoing within 60 days; assumes that all Storage stockholders have exchanged their
respective shares under the Storage Merger and that there are currently 42,702,003 outstanding shares of our common
stock, plus the 1,425,000 shares underlying the management stock option grants in their ownership and in the total
number of outstanding shares for these computations. That outstanding figure is the sum of 42,702,003 and the
respective vested portions of each member of management�s vested options in the above referenced computations. For
information about shares of our common stock underlying outstanding convertible securities, see our consolidated
financial statements and related notes that are filed as a part of Annual Report, in Part II, Item 8, and the table under
the heading �Director Compensation,� in this Item above.  This computation includes the shares underlying these grants
and those to William McDonald, our CFO, in the amount of 300,000 shares.

(2)  These computations include the vested portion of 100,000 shares underlying the 1,425,000 $0.385 five year
employee stock options granted to members of management, in Mr. Bauer�s holdings and in the outstanding shares
utilized for computation of his holdings.

(3)  These computations include the vested portion of 75,000 shares underlying the 1,425,000 $0.385 five year
employee stock options granted to members of management, in Ms. Larson�s holdings and in the outstanding shares
utilized for computation of his holdings.
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(4)  These computations include the vested portion of 75,000 shares underlying the 1,425,000 $0.385 five year
employee stock options granted to members of management, in Mr. Belhe�s holdings and in the outstanding shares
utilized for computation of his holdings.

(5)  The total percentage of the six management members includes the vested portion of 1,425,000 shares underlying
the 1,425,000 $0.385 five year employee stock options granted to members of management, in total holdings and in
the outstanding shares utilized for computation of these seven persons holdings.

Changes in Control

There are no present arrangements or pledges of our securities which may result in a change in control of our
Company.  

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

See the table on page 20.  
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ITEM 13:  CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

Transactions with Related Persons

There were no material transactions or series of similar transactions during the years ended December 31, 2009, or
2008, or any currently proposed transactions, or series of similar transactions, to which we or any of our subsidiaries
was or is to be a party, in which the amount involved exceeded the lesser of $120,000 or one percent of the average of
our total assets at year-end for the last two completed fiscal years and in which any director, executive officer or any
security holder who is known to us to own of record or beneficially more than five percent of any class of our
common stock, or any member of the immediate family of any of the foregoing persons, had an interest, except:

Management and Founders Share Issuances

The following shares have been issued to our management and founders:

Name

No. of Shares

Consideration

Roy A. Bauer

546,875

$109,375

William M. McDonald

64,395

$12,879

Daniel Herbeck

600,862
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$120,173

Management and Founders Agreements

Jonathan S. Miner and Pamela J. Miner

Effective December 5, 2008, our Board of Directors approved the issuance of a convertible note Jonathan S. Miner
and Pamela J. Miner, who both currently serve on our Board of Directors, for their advance to us of the sum of
$175,000 and their agreement to advance up to an additional $75,000 (which additional sum has been advanced to us),
all to be utilized in the development of our DigiLIBE software storage product.  We also executed a Security
Agreement with them whereby we granted to them as collateral and security a lien for the payment of the convertible
note and additional indebtedness of theirs or indebtedness they had guaranteed in the past on our behalf in the further
aggregate amount of $500,000, for a total secured amount of $750,000.  See Note 6 of our consolidated financial
statements in Part II, Item 8.

Dan Herbeck

Our interim CEO, Dan Herbeck, who resigned in February 2009, provided consulting services to us during 2008
through his company, Continental Technologies Solutions, LLC (�Continental�). At the time of his resignation, the
severance arrangement recognized unpaid invoices owed to Continental of $105,344, payable at a discretionary rate of
$4,000 per month commencing in April, 2009. As recognition for our delay in payment, we also granted Continental
100,000 �cashless� five year warrants to purchase 100,000 shares of our common stock at $0.35 per share.  On
November 4, 2009, we entered into a Settlement Agreement with Dan Herbeck, acting through his company,
Continental, that satisfied the outstanding balance owed of $120,172 (reflecting additional accrued interest from the
date of his resignation) in return for the issuance of 600,861shares of our common stock.

5X Capital Partners

We executed a Corporate Development Services Agreement (the �5X Agreement�) with 5X on August 20, 2007, that
was extended by an Addendum on November 15, 2007 (the �First Addendum�), and by an additional Addendum
effective April 17, 2008 (the �Second Addendum�).  Larry D. Ingwersen, who became our CEO and President on April
17, 2008, and Roderick D. Johnson, who became our Chief Operating Officer on April 17, 2008, equally owned and
each received $158,218 (individually) in compensation under these agreements:.  Copies of the initial 5X Agreement
and the First and Second Addendums were filed as Exhibits to our Form 10 Registration Statement.  
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The Second Addendum was extended; however, effective October 13, 2008, Mr. Ingwersen resigned as our CEO,
President and a director; and Roderick D. Johnson resigned as our COO.  At the time of their resignations, an
aggregate
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of $93,801.50 was purportedly due to them, along with 356,250 in vested stock options to each under the Digitiliti,
Inc. 2007 Stock Option Plan.  We settled these claims in on July 16, 2009 reflecting the issuance of 252,500 shares of
the Company restricted common stock along with the issuance of 180,000 warrants to both Mr. Ingwerson and Mr.
Johnson (individually).

Other Management and Founder Transactions

We issued a $250,000 promissory note to a Jonathon S. Miner dated December 15, 2005.  The note mirrors a
promissory note between the Mr. Miner and his bank, which matured on December 15, 2009 and had an interest rate
0.5% above the bank�s index rate (6.00% at December 31, 2009 and 2008).  In December 2009, the note was renewed
to December 31, 2010. The balance of the note was $231,540 and $231,540 at December 31, 2009 and 2008. Interest
expense was $15,218 and $13,357 for 2009 and 2008, respectively.

In January 2006, we entered into two leases for computer equipment, one of which expired in 2007 and one of which
expired in 2008. One of the leasing companies, Wenzel Data, Inc., is owned by Ronald G. Wenzel, a former officer
and director of Storage and a current stockholder of ours, and Brad D. Wenzel, our Chairman of the Board of
Directors until April 20, 2009. The lease payments are guaranteed by Messrs. Wenzel and Wenzel. The amount
outstanding for the capital lease obligation to Messrs. Wenzel and Wenzel was fully paid in 2009. The related interest
expense associated with these lease was $5,022 and $794 for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2009,
respectively.

Promoters and Certain Control Persons

See the heading �Transactions with Related Persons� above.

Parents of the Smaller Reporting Company

We have no parents.

Director Independence
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Though we are not required to have any independent directors as a smaller reporting company, using the following
definition of NASDAQ, which is summarized below and which is adopted in our Audit Committee Charter that was
filed as an Exhibit to our 8-K Current Report dated December 16, 2008 and filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on December 22, 2008. (see Part IV, Item 15), all of our directors may be deemed to be independent,
except Roy A. Bauer and Kedar R. Behle (see references below), and Ms. Behle is believed to be independent:

�Independent director� means a person other than an officer or employee of the company or its subsidiaries or any other
individual having a relationship, which, in the opinion of the company�s Board of Directors, would interfere with the
exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director. The following persons shall not be
considered independent

(A) a director who is, or during the past three years was, employed by the company or by any parent or subsidiary of
the company (any of its affiliates for the current year or any of the past three years [this applies only to Roy A.
Bauer]);

(B) a director who accepts or who has a family member who accepts any compensation payments from the  company
or any of its affiliates in excess of $60,000 during the current fiscal year or any of the past three fiscal years, other
than compensation for board service, payments arising solely from investments in the company�s securities,
compensation paid to a family member who is an employee of the company or a parent or subsidiary of the company
(but not if such person is an executive officer of the company or any parent or subsidiary of the company), benefits
under a tax-qualified retirement plan, or non-discretionary compensation (provided, however, that audit committee
members are subject to heightened requirements under Rule 4350(d)) of NASDAQ (applies to Roy A. Bauer and may
apply to Kedar R. Behle);

(C) a director who is a member of the immediate family member of an individual who is, or has been in any of or
during the past three years was employed by the company or by any of its affiliates as an executive officer (applies to
Roy A. Bauer)
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(D) a director who is a partner in, or a controlling shareholder or an executive officer of, any for-profit business
organization to which the company made, or from which the company received, payments (other than those arising
solely from investments in the company�s securities) that exceed 5% of the recipient�s consolidated gross revenues for
that year, or $200,000, whichever is more, in the current fiscal year or any of the past three fiscal years (applies to
none); 

(E) a director of the company who is employed as an executive officer of another entity where any of the company�s]
executive[s] officer[s] of the company serve on that entity�s compensation committee of such other entity, or if such
relationship existed during the past three years (applies only to Roy A. Bauer); or 

(F) a director who is or was a partner or employee of the company�s outside auditor, and worked on the company�s
audit, during the past three years (applies to none).

ITEM 14:  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANTING FEES AND SERVICES

The following is a summary of the fees billed to us by our principal accountants during the fiscal years ended
December 31, 2009, and 2008:

Fee
Category

2009

2008

Audit Fees

    $

159,460
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$

311,139

Audit-related
Fees

    $

0

$

0

Tax Fees

    $

7,500

$

12,000

All Other
Fees

    $

6,500

$

0

Total Fees

    $

173,460

$
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323,139

Audit Fees - Consists of fees for professional services rendered by our principal accountants for the audit of our
annual financial statements and review of the financial statements included in our Forms 10-Q or services that are
normally provided by our principal accountants in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements.

Audit-related Fees - Consists of fees for assurance and related services by our principal accountants that are
reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of our financial statements and are not reported under
�Audit fees.�

Tax Fees - Consists of fees for professional services rendered by our principal accountants for tax compliance, tax
advice and tax planning.

All Other Fees - Consists of fees for products and services provided by our principal accountants, other than the
services reported under �Audit fees,� �Audit-related fees,� and �Tax fees� above.

Policy on Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Audit and Permissible Non-Audit Services of Independent
Auditors

We have adopted an Audit Committee.  We do require approval in advance of the performance of professional
services to be provided to us by our principal accountant. Additionally, all services rendered by our principal
accountant are performed pursuant to a written engagement letter between us and the principal accountant.   See our
8-K Current Report dated December 16, 2008 for more information regarding our Audit Committee.

PART IV

ITEM 15:  EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a)(1)(2)    Financial Statements.  See the audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2008,
contained in Part II, Item 8, which are incorporated herein by this reference.

Edgar Filing: UDR, Inc. - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 263



(a)(3)         Exhibits.  The following Exhibits are filed as part of this Annual Report:
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No.            Description

3.1

Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation
filed May 13, 2008.

Exhibit to our Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31,
2008

3.2

Bylaws.

Exhibit to our Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31,
2008

10.1

XO Communications Contract.

Exhibit to our Form 10

10.2

FRM Associates Lease, as
amended.

Exhibit to our Form 10

10.3

EBC Minneapolis, Inc. Sublease
Agreement.

Exhibit to our Form 10

10.4

Upper Corner Venture, LLC
Lease Agreement.
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Exhibit to our Form 10

10.5

5X Partners Corporate
Development Services
Agreement with Addendums.

Exhibit to our Form 10

10.6

StorageSwitch Consulting
Services Agreement.

Exhibit to our Form 10

10.7

StorageSwitch Non-Compete
Agreement.

Exhibit to our Form 10

10.8

StorageSwitch Technology
Purchase Agreement.

Exhibit to our Form 10

10.9

Vision to Practice, Inc.
Development Services
Agreement.

Exhibit to our Form 10

10.10

Sub-Lease Agreement

14

Code of Ethics

Exhibit to our Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31,
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2008

21

Subsidiaries.

Exhibit to our Form 10

31.1

302 Certification of CEO, Roy
A. Bauer

31.2

302 Certification of CFO,
William McDonald

32

906 Certification

99.1

Digitiliti, Inc. Stock Option
Plan.

Exhibit to our Form 10

99.2

Charter of the Audit and
Finance Committee of the
Board of Directors

Exhibit to our 8-K Current
Report dated December 16,
2008 and filed December 22,
2008

99.3

Charter of the Corporate
Governance and Nomination
Committee of the Board of
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Directors

Exhibit to our 8-K Current
Report dated December 16,
2008 and filed December 22,
2008

99.4

Charter of the Compensation
Committee of the Board of
Directors

Exhibit to our 8-K Current
Report dated December 16,
2008 and filed December 22,
2008

8-K Current Report dated December 2, 2008, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 12,
2008.

8-K Current Report dated December 16, 2008, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 22,
2008.

8-K Current Report dated April 20, 2009, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 24, 2009.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly
caused this Annual Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
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DIGITILITI, INC.
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Date:

April 15, 2010

By:

/s/Roy A. Bauer

Roy A. Bauer

CEO, President and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Annual Report has been signed below by
the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

DIGITILITI, INC.
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Date:

April 15, 2010

By:

/s/Roy A. Bauer

Roy A. Bauer

CEO, President and Director

Date:

April 15, 2010

By:

/s/William McDonald
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William McDonald

CFO

Date:

April 15, 2010

By:

/s/Karen Gilles Larson

Karen Gilles Larson
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Director

Date:

April 15, 2010

By:

/s/Kedar R. Belhe

Kedar R. Belhe

Director
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